
 

COMMITTEE: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

VENUE: King Edmund Chamber - 
Endeavour House, 8 Russell 
Road, Ipswich 
 

DATE: Wednesday, 4 April 2018 
9.30 a.m. 

 

Members 

Sue Ayres 
Peter Beer 
David Busby 
Michael Creffield 
Luke Cresswell 
Derek Davis 
Siân Dawson 

Kathryn Grandon 
John Hinton 
Michael Holt 
Adrian Osborne 
Stephen Plumb 
David Rose 
Ray Smith 

 

The Council, members of the public and the press may record/film/photograph or broadcast 
this meeting when the public and the press are not lawfully excluded. Any member of the 
public who attends a meeting and objects to being filmed should advise the Committee Clerk. 
 

A G E N D A  

PART 1 

ITEM  BUSINESS 

 Page(s) 

 

1   SUBSTITUTES AND APOLOGIES  
 

Any Member attending as an approved substitute to report giving 
his/her name and the name of the Member being substituted. 
 

To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

2   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

Members to declare any interests as appropriate in respect of items 
to be considered at this meeting. 
 

 

3   TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH THE COUNCIL'S PETITION SCHEME  
 

 

4   SITE INSPECTIONS  
 

In addition to any site inspections which the Committee may 
consider to be necessary, the Corporate Manager – Growth and 
Sustainable Planning will report on any other applications which 
require site inspections.  
 

The provisional date for any site inspections is Wednesday 11 April 
2018.  

 

Public Document Pack



5   PL/17/36 PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY 
THE COMMITTEE  
 

An Addendum to Paper PL/17/36 will be circulated to Members prior 
to the commencement of the meeting summarising additional 
correspondence received since the publication of the agenda but 
before 12 noon on the working day before the meeting, together with 
any errata. 
 

1 - 4 

a   DC/17/06058 Former Sugar Beet Factory, Sproughton Road, 
Sproughton  
 

5 - 24 

b   DC/17/06235 Former Sugar Beet Factory, Sproughton Road, 
Sproughton  
 

25 - 58 

c   DC/18/00717 & DC/18/00718 Gainsborough House, 46 
Gainsborough Street, Sudbury  
 

59 - 70 

Notes:  

 1.      The next meeting is scheduled for Wednesday 18 April 2018 commencing at 9.30 a.m. 

 2.     Where it is not expedient for plans and drawings of the proposals under consideration to 
be shown on the power point, these will be displayed in the Council Chamber prior to the 
meeting. 

 3.    The Council has adopted Public Speaking Arrangements at Planning Committees, a link 
is provided below: 

http://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s9230/20161130BDCPublicSpeakingArr
angementsADOPTED30112016.docx.pdf  

Those persons wishing to speak on an application to be decided by Planning Committee must 
register their interest to speak no later than two clear working days before the Committee 
meeting, as detailed in the Public Speaking Arrangements (adopted 30 November 2016). 

The registered speakers will be invited by the Chairman to speak when the relevant item is 
under consideration.  This will be done in the following order:   

 A representative of the Parish Council in whose area the application site is located to express the 

views of the Parish Council; 

 An objector; 

 A supporter; 

 The applicant or professional agent / representative; 

 County Council Division Member(s) who is (are) not a member of the Committee on matters 

pertaining solely to County Council issues such as highways / education; 

 Local Ward Member(s) who is (are) not a member of the Committee. 

Public speakers in each capacity will normally be allowed 3 minutes to speak. 

Local Ward Member(s) who is (are) not a member of the Committee are allocated a maximum 
of 5 minutes to speak. 

 

http://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s9230/20161130BDCPublicSpeakingArrangementsADOPTED30112016.docx.pdf
http://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s9230/20161130BDCPublicSpeakingArrangementsADOPTED30112016.docx.pdf


 
Introduction to Public Meetings 

 
Babergh/Mid Suffolk District Councils are committed to Open Government.  The 
proceedings of this meeting are open to the public, apart from any confidential or exempt 
items which may have to be considered in the absence of the press and public. 
 
For more information about this meeting, including access arrangements and facilities for 
people with disabilities, please contact the Governance Officer on: 01473 296372 or Email: 
committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk 

 

 
Domestic Arrangements: 
 

 Toilets are situated opposite the meeting room. 

 Cold water is also available outside opposite the room. 

 Please switch off all mobile phones or turn them to silent. 
 

 
Evacuating the building in an emergency:  Information for Visitors: 
 
If you hear the alarm: 
 
1. Leave the building immediately via a Fire Exit and make your way to the Assembly 

Point (Ipswich Town Football Ground). 
 
2. Follow the signs directing you to the Fire Exits at each end of the floor. 
 
3. Do not enter the Atrium (Ground Floor area and walkways).  If you are in the Atrium 

at the time of the Alarm, follow the signs to the nearest Fire Exit. 
 
4. Use the stairs, not the lifts. 
 
5. Do not re-enter the building until told it is safe to do so. 

 

 

 
 

mailto:committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee 
4 April 2018 

 
 
 

         PL/17/36 
 

 
 

BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

4 APRIL 2018 
 

SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE 
 

Item Page 
No. 

Application No. Location Officer Decision 

 
APPLICATION REQUIRING REFERENCE TO PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

1.  DC/17/06058 
SPROUGHTON - Former Sugar 
Beet Factory, Sproughton Road  

SS  

2.  DC/17/06235 
SPROUGHTON - Former Sugar 

Beet Factory, Sproughton Road 
SS  

3.  
DC/18/00717 & 
DC/18/00718 

SUDBURY - Gainsborough 
House, 46 Gainsborough Street 

SS  

      

      

      

      

 
 
 
Philip Isbell 
Corporate Manager – Growth and Sustainable Planning 
 
 
  

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee 
4 April 2018 

 

 
BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS MADE UNDER THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 
1990, AND ASSOCIATED LEGISLATION, FOR DETERMINATION OR RECOMMENDATION BY 
THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
This Schedule contains proposals for development which, in the opinion of the Corporate Manager 
– Growth and Sustainable Planning, do not come within the scope of the Scheme of Delegation to 
Officers adopted by the Council or which, although coming within the scope of that scheme, she/he 
has referred to the Committee to determine. 
 
Background Papers in respect of all of the items contained in this Schedule of Applications are: 
 
1.  The particular planning, listed building or other application or notification (the reference 

number of which is shown in brackets after the description of the location). 
 
2.  Any documents containing supplementary or explanatory material submitted with the 

application or subsequently. 
 
3.  Any documents relating to suggestions as to modifications or amendments to the application 

and any documents containing such modifications or amendments. 
 
4.  Documents relating to responses to the consultations, notifications and publicity both 

statutory and non-statutory as contained on the case file together with any previous planning 
decisions referred to in the Schedule item. 

 
DELEGATION TO THE CORPORATE MANAGER - GROWTH AND SUSTAINABLE PLANNING 
 
The delegated powers under Minute No 48(a) of the Council (dated 19 October 2004) includes the 
power to determine the conditions to be imposed upon any grant of planning permission, listed 
building consent, conservation area consent or advertisement consent and the reasons for those 
conditions or the reasons to be imposed on any refusal in addition to any conditions and/or reasons 
specifically resolved by the Planning Committee. 
 
PLANNING POLICIES 
 
The Development Plan comprises saved polices in the Babergh Local Plan adopted June 2006.  The 
reports in this paper contain references to the relevant documents and policies which can be viewed 
at the following addresses: 

 
The Babergh Local Plan:  http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/adopted-
documents/babergh-district-council/babergh-local-plan/ 
 
National Planning Policy Framework: 
 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/2116950.pdf  

  

Page 2

http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/adopted-documents/babergh-district-council/babergh-local-plan/
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/adopted-documents/babergh-district-council/babergh-local-plan/
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/2116950.pdf


Planning Committee 
4 April 2018 

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED IN THIS SCHEDULE 
 
 
 
AWS Anglian Water Services 
 
CFO County Fire Officer 
 
LHA Local Highway Authority 

EA Environment Agency 

EH English Heritage 

NE Natural England 

HSE Health and Safety Executive 

MoD Ministry of Defence 

PC Parish Council 

PM Parish Meeting 

SPS Suffolk Preservation Society 

SWT Suffolk Wildlife Trust 

TC Town Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 3



Planning Committee 
4 April 2018 

 

Page 4



 

 

Committee Report   

Ward: Brook 

Ward Members: Councillors Barry Gasper and Nick Ridley 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION – GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION 

 

 

Description of Development 

Construction of infrastructure to serve the first phase of development at Sproughton Enterprise Park 

including highways, parking, cycle and pedestrian routes, utilities and sustainable drainage systems, 

provision of landscaping and removal/management of existing landscaping and engineering works 

(including demolition of existing structures and buildings, breaking-up and recycling of hardstanding and 

ground remodelling and enabling works). 

 

Location 

Former Sugar Beet Factory, Sproughton Road, Sproughton, Ipswich IP1 5AL 

 

Parish: Sproughton   

Expiry Date: 08/03/2018 

Application Type: Full Planning Application 

Development Type: Major - Large Scale 

 

Applicant: Ipswich Borough Council 

Agent: David Lock Associates 

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 
The application is referred to committee for the following reason: 
 
The Corporate Manager – Growth and Sustainable Planning considers the application to be of a 
controversial nature having regard to the scale of development posed, its location, and its relationship to 
other planning applications currently affecting the site. 
 
Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions and any member site visit 

 

Members of the Planning Committee undertook an inspection of the site and its surroundings on 14th 

February 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item No: 1 Reference: DC/17/06058 
Case Officer: Steven Stroud 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5a



 

 

 
 

PART TWO – APPLICATION BACKGROUND AND DETAILS  
 

 

Relevant Planning History 

 

The application site (and the parcel of land within which it sits) has a long history of use; most notably, as 

a factory for the production of sugar from beet. That use ceased around the Millennium, with most 

structures - save for four large concrete silos - being demolished or removed. Most recently, uses across 

the site have extended to B8 (storage) and motorcycle training, under a temporary permission (which 

expires in September 2018)1. 

 

The demolition of the silos (and other associated tanks/structures) was approved in 20172 and at the time 

of writing this report those works are nearing completion. Planning permission was also granted during 

2017 for the erection of a 30m tower to allow for the nesting of a Peregrine Falcon3. 

 

The Council has committed to supporting the principle of retaining/expanding employment uses across the 

site and surrounding land through iterations of the plan-making process; this has culminated in the 

allocation of the site through the present Core Strategy (Policy CS8): ‘Sproughton Strategic Employment 

Site Allocation’. 

 

The Council’s resolve in supporting such an allocation is clear, where the inherent planning principles have 

been shaped through public engagement and have been democratically approved. An application for a 

mixed-use (including 1100 dwellings) development was considered at appeal and dismissed by the 

Secretary of State in 20074. In reaching their decision the Secretary of State noted the considerable tension 

between allowing such a development to proceed, and the development plan (then Policy EM04) which 

had expressly allocated the site for employment purposes. Policy EM04 remains extant; however, Policy 

CS8 is now considered to be the lead policy for determining applications pursuant to the Allocation, as it 

represents the most recent iteration of the plan-making process, examined as post-NPPF planning policy. 

 

Members will note that this application is to be determined whilst two other applications relating to the land 

comprising the Allocation require consideration. Officers do not consider that the status of those 

applications should, or would, undermine the ability of Members to determine the application before them 

on its own merits and based upon the recommendations laid out within this report. That said, and as will 

be explained within the separate reports to Members, it is necessary to understand the relationship 

between applications and how they might be linked depending on the decisions to be taken. 

 

A Government initiative designated new ‘Enterprise Zone’ sites in April 2016; Sproughton Enterprise Park 

is one of 10 sites within the New Anglia LEP’s Space to Innovate Enterprise Zone. The purpose of these 

newly designated Zones is to fast-track development of land allocated for employment through measures, 

including: 

 

• making it more attractive for local authorities to support development, via business rates retention 

                                                           
1 Application Reference: B/16/00762. 
2 Application Reference: B/17/00955. 
3 Application Reference: DC/17/03406. 
4 Appeal Reference: 2030150. 

Page 6



 

 

• making it more attractive to future business occupiers by offering them business rates relief (funded 

by central government) 

• ensuring access to superfast broadband is available for all occupiers 

• prioritising funding to EZ sites to secure delivery of employment and economic growth. 

Delivery partners New Anglia LEP and Ipswich Borough Council (including officers from this Council) are 

confident that the availability of serviced employment land at Sproughton will help to ensure additional 

employment and economic growth within the area. Together with a number of other identified sites across 

Suffolk and Norfolk, the Enterprise Zone will help to create 18,500 jobs within the 25-year lifetime of the 

zone, including 5,000 jobs by 2021.On occupation, the return of business rates to the relevant Enterprise 

Zone partners could be used for reinvestment; for example, funding for site-specific infrastructure. 

 

Site and Surroundings 

 

The application site is located immediately to the south of Junction 54 of the A14 as it meets Sproughton 

Road and comprises approximately 11ha of land served by an existing spur from that junction. The Site 

wholly falls within the parish of Sproughton, though abuts the administrative boundary between the district 

of Babergh and the borough of Ipswich on its eastern edge; its town centre lies to the south-east. 

 

The A14 runs parallel to the western boundary of the site and is a major trunk road. Existing commercial 

areas lie to the east and north-east; the River Gipping is adjacent to the south. The nearest residential 

properties are located to the south-east, around 200m from the southernmost site boundary and being 

separated by the river and vegetation of varying degrees of maturity and thickness. 

 

The site incorporates a mix of mature vegetation along its boundaries and features a number of mature 

trees and other scrub/shrub within. Areas of hardstanding and remaining features associated with the 

former sugar factory lie immediately to the east, however within the same wider land parcel as allocated 

under Policy CS8. 

 

The great majority of the site falls within Flood Zone 1, where there is a very low probability (less than 1 in 

1000 annually) of river or sea (fluvial) flooding. The southernmost boundary of the site falls within an area 

at a higher risk of flooding (Flood Zones 2 and 3); however, no development is to take place within that 

area. The existing nature of the land also means that there is presently considered to be a low risk of 

surface water (pluvial) flooding. 

 

There are no designated heritage assets within the red-lined application area, however a number of assets 

are in proximity to the Site. Principally, these include: The Grade II Park and Garden of Chantry Park, 

including its Grade II Gatehouse and Gatepiers, and; the Grade II Red House (and associated, individually 

listed, Grade II barn). Those assets are located along Hadleigh Road in an elevated position to the valley 

within which the applicate site lies, both being over 500m away and demarcated by intervening hard/soft 

features. 

 

The site is not within or adjacent to a Conservation Area. Nor is it within or adjacent to an Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty, Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Air Quality Management Area, Local 

Green Space, or Area of Visual/Recreational Amenity. Whilst not affecting any land designated nationally 

(or internationally) for its environmental quality, a very small portion of land at the south-western corner of 

the site is designated by the Council as forming part of a Special Landscape Area; however, no 

development is to be located within that area. 

Page 7



 

 

 

No Public Rights of Way (PROW) run through the site; however, it is within proximity to a local network of 

footways and other routes associated with ‘soft’ modes of transport. This includes a river path route running 

along the River Gipping and parallel to the southern site boundary. 

 

The Proposal 

 

The applicant seeks ‘full’ Planning Permission for the development described at the top of this report. The 

description of development is detailed, though in broad terms the objectives are quite simple: In submitting 

the application, the applicant seeks approval for what is, effectively, the first phase of construction works 

and infrastructure to serve the first marketable plot(s) for the Enterprise Park being offered by the 

landowner, Ipswich Borough Council. 

 

The development can be broken down as follows: 

 

1) Highways and Access 

i. Improvements to existing access from Sproughton Road/Junction 54 

ii. Internal circulation routes for all traffic modes. 

 

2) Infrastructure 

i. Utilities 

ii. Drainage 

iii. Engineering operations 

iv. Recycling of existing and adjacent areas of hardstanding 

v. Ground works 

 

3) Landscaping 

• Hard and soft landscaping, including provision of SuDS. 

 

Members will note that the submitted details correspond with the other ‘full’ planning application that 

presently affects the strategic land allocation: the proposal for a high-bay storage and distribution facility 

submitted by the ‘first’ occupier. Likewise, it accords with the illustrative and parameter-led masterplans 

submitted in support of the Outline planning application which affects the entirety of the land allocation.  

 

The specific delivery timetable and requirements of the first occupier (hence the related full application for 

their proposed development) warrants an immediate implementation of infrastructure to serve the first 

development parcel. The phasing of submissions was then undertaken deliberately; partly due to 

commercial need where an occupier is willing and able to progress, and also in order to ensure that the 

site-wide context could be understood when considering the applications and when framed against the 

lead planning policy. Officers do not find that approach to be unacceptable. 

 

Consequently, whilst Members are tasked with determining each application on its own merits, the separate 

submissions are co-ordinated so as to not prejudice one another or hinder delivery. Such considerations 

are of importance in the event that all three applications are held to be acceptable and will be treated across 

the three separate reports where relevant (and in respect of this report, subsequent sections). In that 

respect, the applicant – Ipswich Borough Council (also applicant for the Outline proposal) – has provided 

the following commentary: 

Page 8



 

 

 

“There is multiple occupier interest in the site. One potential occupier is targeting site handover 

in Spring 2018 to allow them to commence construction of a new warehouse and distribution 

facility in the north-western development plot. In order to meet the requirements of the occupier, 

site handover will require provision for strategic infrastructure to serve this development parcel. 

A key objective is therefore to secure a development-ready site in accordance with that 

timeframe. 

 

In order to achieve that objective, this application seeks permission for Phase 1 infrastructure 

and ground works which are necessary to service the north-western development plot. A 

separate full planning application is being submitted by others setting out detailed proposals 

for the buildings and associated works which will occupy that first development plot.” 

 

The application, plans and documents submitted by the Applicant (including consultation responses and 

third-party representations) can be viewed online at: https://planning.baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk/online-

applications/. Alternatively, copies are available to view at the Council offices5. 

 
Relevant Planning Policies 

 

The Development Plan comprises the policies in the Babergh Local Plan 2011-2031, Core Strategy and 

Policies (2014) document and those ‘saved’ policies within the Babergh Local Plan, Alteration No.2 (2006). 

 

Core Strategy 

 

The Babergh Local Plan 2011-2031, Core Strategy and Policies (2014) document was adopted on the 25th 

February 2014. The following policies are of particular relevance to this planning application (and the 

related applications aforementioned): 

 

• CS1 - Applying the Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development in Babergh 

• CS2 - Settlement Pattern Policy 

• CS3 - Strategy for Growth and Development 

• CS8 - Sproughton Strategic Employment Site Allocation 

• CS12 - Sustainable Design and Construction Standards 

• CS13 - Renewable/Low Carbon Energy 

• CS14 - Green Infrastructure 

• CS15 - Implementing Sustainable Development in Babergh 

• CS16 - Town, Village and Local Centres 

• CS21 - Infrastructure Provision 

 

Saved Policies in the Local Plan 

 

The ‘saved’ policies within the Babergh Local Plan, Alteration No.2 (2006) adopted June 2006 should be 

regarded as a material consideration in planning decisions. The following policies are of particular 

relevance to the proposal (and the related applications aforementioned): 

  

                                                           
5 Details of addresses and opening times are available at: http://www.babergh.gov.uk/contact-us/ 

Page 9

https://planning.baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planning.baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/contact-us/


 

 

• CN01 - Design Standards 

• CN04 - Design and Crime Prevention 

• CN06 - Listed Buildings 

• CN14 - Historic Parks and Gardens – National 

• CN15 - Historic Parks and Gardens – Local 

• CR04 - Special Landscape Areas 

• EM02 - General Employment Areas – Existing and New Allocations 

• EM04 - Former ‘British Sugar’ Sproughton 

• EM08 - Warehousing and Distribution 

• EN22 - Light Pollution – Outdoor Lighting 

• TP05 - New Cycle Link – Sproughton 

• TP15 - Parking Standards – New Development  

• TP16 - Green Travel Plans 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) contains the Government’s planning policies for England 

and sets out how these are expected to be applied.  Planning law continues to require that applications for 

planning permission are determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. The policies contained within the NPPF are a material consideration and 

should be taken into account for decision-taking purposes. 

 

Other Considerations 

 

The following documents are also considered as material for the purposes of determining planning 

applications and are considered to be applicable to this proposal by officers: 

 

• Highways England - Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (1992 onwards); 

• Department for Transport - Manual for Streets (2014); 

• Suffolk County Council - Suffolk Guidance for Parking (2014), adopted 2015. 

• The Suffolk Growth Strategy (2013). 

 

On the 6th March 2014, a number of Ministerial planning circulars were cancelled by central Government 

and were replaced by the Government’s online national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). The guidance 

provided is advice on procedure rather than explicit policy; however, it has been taken into account in 

reaching the recommendation made on this application. 

 

The PPG is an online reference and is available at the following internet address: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance. 

 

The relevant policies referred to above can be viewed online. Please see the notes attached to the 

Schedule. 

 
 

 

 

Page 10

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


 

 

Consultations and Representations 

 

A Statement of Community Involvement has been submitted in support of the application, identifying that 

pre-application consultation with a range of interested stakeholders (including Babergh District Council and 

Suffolk County Council) occurred in order to help shape the proposal. Following masterplanning exercises 

undertaken on behalf of the applicant, a Landowner Handbook and Design Guide were produced in 2016 

and 2017, establishing the high-level intentions for the development of the site as an Enterprise Park. 

Engagement continued through until application submission. The submitted application (and related 

Outline proposal) is built upon the emerging and agreed principles, and feedback received through 

consultations with interested stakeholders. 

 

All of those most recent or relevant responses received prior to the completion of this report are 

summarised or directly quoted below; nevertheless, all responses received are available to view on the 

Council’s website at the address given above. Given the lengthy/technical nature of some of the responses 

received, Members are directed to consider the original copies of those documents. 

 

Any further responses or representations will be reported through the Addendum Paper and/or at Planning 

Committee.  

 
Summary of Consultations 
 
Sproughton Parish Council 
 

• Does not accord with Policy CS8; fails to provide for comprehensive approach to site development. 

• No assessment of wider impacts. 

• Minimal improvements to existing infrastructure. 

• Failure to provide for infrastructure improvements to meet development demands. 

• Inadequate roundabout/highway conditions to cope with development demands. 
 
Pinewood Parish Council 
 

• No objection. 
 
Suffolk County Council (Local Highway Authority) 
 

• No objection, subject to conditions. 

• Application is treated independently of Outline proposal, however is necessary to facilitate the 
operation of the distribution centre. 

• Improvement to roundabout to be secured with s278 agreement. 

• Early determination of the Outline proposal is recommended to secure wider site and connectivity 
improvements. 

 
Suffolk County Council (Lead Local Flood Authority) 
 

• No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
SCC (Archaeology) 
 

• No objection. 

• All required works have been carried out and no further investigation or mitigation is required. 
 

Page 11



 

 

SCC (Fire and Rescue) 
 

• Comments; consideration to be given to access and water provision for emergency vehicles. 
 
Environment Agency 
 

• No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Place Services – Ecology (BDC appointed consultant) 
 

• No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
RSA Geotechnics (BDC appointed consultant) 
 

• No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Summary of Representations 
 
Those other representations received are summarised as follows: 
 

• Negative visual impact of buildings. 

• Disturbance from increase in traffic. 

• Highway safety concerns. 

• Lack of highway capacity to meet development demands. 

• Size and scale of structures would dominate skyline. 

• Unacceptable noise impacts from development operations/occupation. 

• Objection to height parameters of buildings applied for. 

• Concern over HGV reversing ‘beeps’. 

• Lighting impact concerns. 

• Development should be screened. 

• Lack of public engagement from developers. 

• Unacceptable traffic movements through Sproughton. 

• External building materials are poor. 

• Fails to meet BREEAM requirements. 

• Does not accord with development plan. 

• Air quality concerns. 

• LVIA is flawed. 

• Clearly has adverse impact on residential amenity. 

• Property valuation concerns/need for compensation. 

• Conflicts with parameters of Outline proposal. 

• Minimal job creation, would not outweigh harm posed. 

• Flooding concerns. 

• Harmful impact on riverpath and access. 

• Adequate land is available in Felixstowe. 

• Loss of light. 

• Loss of view. 

• Loss of outlook. 

• Transport assessment is deficient. 

• Blocks an identified route for Sproughton relief road. 

• Transport mitigation measures must be secured. 

• Landscaping must be robust. 

• Protection of ecological island site is welcome. 

Page 12



 

 

 
All consultee responses and representations received to date have been noted and have been taken into 

account when reaching the recommendations as set out below. However, it is noted that the majority of 

responses received from nearby residents are directed at the other applications affecting the land 

allocation. 

 
 

PART THREE – ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION  
 

 
From an assessment of the relevant planning policies, site history and land constraints/designations, 

representations and consultation responses received and other material planning considerations, the main 

issues in determining this application are considered, as following: 

 

• The Principle of Development – Policy CS8 

• Highway Impacts, Connectivity and Sustainable Transport 

• Heritage 

• Landscape Impact and Impact Upon the Character of the Area 

• Residential Amenity  

• Resilience to Climate Change: Flood Risk and Drainage 

• Ecology and Biodiversity 

• Land Contamination 

• Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
The Principle of Development – Policy CS8 

 

The application site was first allocated for development under Policy EM04 of the Babergh Local Plan. It is 

now included as an allocation within the Babergh Core Strategy. Policy CS8 of the Core Strategy is 

considered to be the lead planning policy (from the Development Plan) for assessing the in-principle 

acceptance of proposals affecting the land. It is therefore afforded weight as a post-NPPF development 

plan policy. Policy CS8 provides a detailed framework to guide the development of the site and in this 

respect the following paragraph taken from that policy is of importance: 

 

“Proposals for redevelopment or re-use of the previously developed site (35.5 hectares) must be 

planned/approached on a comprehensive basis, with regard to the future of the entire site. Co-ordination 

of development could be achieved through a Masterplan and / or development brief / concept statement.” 

 

Following the plan-making process which has already endorsed the allocation of this strategic site for 

employment purposes and the adoption of Policy CS8, the purpose of the ‘masterplan’, then advised under 

that Policy, is to enable the development of a comprehensive scheme to be considered and approved in 

due course, where deemed to be acceptable within the confines of that allocated area. As noted above, 

the masterplanning undertaken by the applicant (Ipswich Borough Council) has been endorsed by its own 

Committee and published. Democratically approved, it is not, however, part of the development plan. Whilst 

the adoption of a masterplan is clearly preferable, an absence of such is not unacceptable; rather, the key 

matter relates to the ability to properly plan for, and co-ordinate, the land allocation in its entirety and for 

this coherent process not to be compromised. 

 

 

 

Page 13



 

 

This application, and the related - and aforementioned - detailed application for a distribution centre 

submitted by a potential occupier, only represent a portion of the land allocation. However, officers do not 

consider that it should be a necessity for one single proposal to comprise the entirety of the land allocation; 

the consequence of such might be to delay occupation from being brought forward in a timely fashion and 

inhibit economic investment and growth, contrary to the core principles of NPPF. The critical point is that a 

coherent co-ordination of development is planned for, and permitted, within the allocation area. This might 

take the form of an overarching masterplan; however, so long as the ‘piecemeal’ developments would not 

prejudice the delivery of such a plan and/or can indicate how those developments can acceptably take 

place within the allocation area, with linkages and mitigation as may be appropriate, such an approach 

would be satisfactory in light of the wording of the Policy. 

 

To that end, it is noted that the Outline planning application – also due to be determined by the Council – 

does provide a clear masterplan informed by a number of set parameters. The present proposal – 

submitted by the same applicant – has been submitted in accordance with those details and for the reasons 

quoted in a preceding section of this report. 

 

In the event that Members are minded to approve both applications submitted (i.e. the Outline application 

and this current infrastructure proposal), there would be no conflict in bringing forward the development of 

the site as envisaged by the lead policy. Equally, in the event that the present proposal is considered 

acceptable, and the other not (or vice versa), this would still be unlikely to prejudice a comprehensive 

approach to development for the site. 

 

Nevertheless, officers do give significant weight to the approach presented by the applicant, where 

consideration must be afforded to the positive benefits that would accrue through allowing this ‘first phase’ 

infrastructure application to proceed in order to bring forward delivery and allow for serviced plots to be 

presented to the market as quickly as possible (and feasibility/viability are key limbs of Policy CS8); the 

acceptability of such uses or operations is not required to be addressed by this application and would be 

assessed on their own merits at the appropriate time and/or in accordance with the Outline application to 

be determined (that sets parameters in respect of use and floorspace).6 Alongside this the NPPF, at 

Paragraph 21, is clear that investment in business should not be over-burdened by the combined 

requirements of planning policy expectations; efforts should be made to recognise and address any barriers 

to investment. 

 

From the preceding policy context, what follows is an assessment of this application against the 

requirements of Policy CS8 (where relevant, given the basic nature of this application and its site area) and 

the wider policies within the development plan and the NPPF, grouped under those key material planning 

considerations identified above. Officers consider that, subject to positive appraisal against those 

considerations, the principle of development would be acceptable when framed against Policy CS8. 

 

Highway Impacts, Connectivity, and Sustainable Transport 

 

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that proposals must provide safe and suitable access for all and that 

transport networks should be improved in a cost-effective way to limit any significant impact of the 

development on the surrounding area, whilst taking account of sustainable transport options. A key 

planning principle within the NPPF is that local planning authorities should support a transition to a low-

carbon future through, inter alia, planning for the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. 

                                                           
6 The application submitted by the first occupier, for example, is treated on its own merits as a separate exercise. 

Page 14



 

 

 

The lead policies to consider from the development plan, in addition to Policy CS8, are CS14 and CS15 of 

the Babergh Core Strategy and saved policies TP05, TP15 and TP16 of the Babergh Local Plan. These 

policies seek to secure development that is well laid out in terms of site access and highway safety, traffic 

flow and the environment, with the need to secure sustainable travel planning details. 

 

Specifically, in relation to Policy CS8 development is required to provide for: 

 

• “protection of the wider river environment in the locality and any opportunities for enhancement, 

including improvement of the River Gipping Riverside Path; 

• production of a satisfactory green travel plan, with regard to provision / upgrading of sustainable 

transport access between the site, nearby villages and Ipswich town centre as necessary; 

• the provision of any necessary measures to address transport impacts offsite, including speed 

management, remodelled roundabout(s) providing access to the A14 and mitigation of additional 

development-related traffic generated through Sproughton village”. 

 

Access and Layout 

 

In this instance, there is a single point of vehicular access serving the site directly from the Junction 54 

roundabout where the A14 meets Sproughton Road. Further, details have been provided for the 

improvement of that junction to make it safe and accessible for all modes of transport. 

 

The acceptability of that entry/egress point, including those improvement works identified, have been 

treated positively by the Local Highway Authority (LHA) subject to conditions; officers endorse that view 

also noting that additional improvements of the primary roundabout to the standard required by the LHA 

can be secured under the usual s278 process. 

 

The layout presented is of a good quality: the streetscape design and landscaping proposals, including the 

treatment of the attenuation basins, its associated land and tree-lined pathways, have been designed to 

provide an appropriate setting for the wider development of the site and to respect its context, being 

accessible to all. Greater, functional detail can be secured by way of condition, as recommended by the 

LHA. 

Connectivity and Sustainable Transport 

 

No uses or operations other than physical infrastructure works are applied for under this application. 

Therefore, mitigation in relation to highway impacts would be difficult to justify in light of the ‘tests’ for 

planning conditions listed under Paragraphs 203-206 of the NPPF, or Regulation 122 of the Community 

Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010.7 Members will note, however, that the masterplanned application for 

Outline planning permission running concurrently with this proposal includes clear parameters based on 

use and floorspace, which will allow for a robust assessment to be undertaken in respect of impacts, likely 

effects, and the degree to which mitigation is necessary. 

 

 

                                                           
7 To form a reason for granting planning permission, obligations must be necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; directly 
related to the development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 

Page 15



 

 

Despite that the present application only provides for development to facilitate future occupiers of the first 

phase of the Enterprise Park (rather than apply for permission for associated uses), in compliance with 

Policy CS8 the applicant has nevertheless committed to providing connectivity improvements to support 

this scheme and the ability for future users to reach the site by more accessible and safe means. Those 

measures include the following: 

 

• Provision of a new 3m-wide combined footway/cycleway within the site from the existing 

main site access (Junction 54 roundabout) southwards. 

• Provision for/widening of the existing footway to a combined 3m foot/cycleway to the north 

east and north western quadrants of the existing main site access roundabout. 

 

Policy requirements relating to highway mitigation, improvements to the river path, wider connectivity 

improvements, and travel planning have been considered. As a separate exercise, and in light of the above, 

this application has been considered in relation to the particular planning issues and likely impacts/effects 

that it poses; the outcome is that it is not held to be necessary to secure those particular measures outlined 

within Policy CS8 (and TP05). It is appropriate, and likely, that such matters would be material to those 

other applications affecting the land allocation; to be considered on their own merits and within separate 

reports compiled by officers for review by Planning Committee. 

 

As noted, this application relates purely to infrastructure provision and does not prejudice other proposals 

or considerations relating to a comprehensive masterplan for the site and any mitigation that may be 

required in relation to the employment uses planned or applied for. Further, the detailed drawings identify 

that the internal estate roads have been designed in preparation for future phasing and integration with the 

wider site, rather than presenting a ‘closed’ scheme that might otherwise inhibit the production of a coherent 

strategy for the land allocation. 

 

The development is therefore considered to be acceptable in respect of its highway impacts, connectivity, 

and sustainable transport options. 

 

Heritage 

 

With reference to the overall treatment of the submitted application, the Council embraces its statutory 

duties and responsibilities, notably; Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 which requires the Local Planning Authority to have “special regard to the desirability of 

preserving [a] building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 

possesses”. Officers interpret this to mean having special regard to the desirability of keeping such 

designated assets from harm. Case law pertaining to the application of that duty acknowledges that the 

consideration of the impact of a proposed development upon the significance of a designated heritage 

asset is a matter for a local planning authority’s own planning judgement, but that a local planning authority 

is required to give any harm that it identifies considerable importance and weight; such harm as may be 

identified gives rise to a strong presumption against planning permission being granted8. 

 

 

 

                                                           
8 R. (on the application of Lady Hart of Chilton) v Babergh DC [2014] EWHC 3261 (Admin). 

Page 16



 

 

The NPPF sets out the Government's national planning policies for the conservation of the historic 

environment and builds upon the 1990 Act referred to above. Paragraphs 132-134 state, inter alia, that 

when considering the impact of works or development upon the significance of a designated heritage asset, 

great weight should be given to the asset's conservation; any harm requires clear and convincing 

justification. Policy CS8 notwithstanding, Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy and Policies CN06, CN14 and 

CN15 of the Babergh Local Plan seek to secure the preservation or enhancement of the historic 

environment (i.e. to keep designated assets from harm). In accordance with the NPPF due weight must be 

given to the policies contained within the development plan according to their degree of consistency with 

the NPPF. The aforementioned policies are considered to be consistent with the NPPF and so are afforded 

a strong weighting. 

 

In addition to being a ‘full’ application, the submitted details provide adequate opportunity to make an 

assessment as to the potential impacts of the development upon the historic environment. As noted, the 

assessment of whether there is likely to be harm to a designated heritage asset is a matter for the LPA’s 

own planning judgement. Due to the nature of the development, its relationship to adjacent development, 

separation distances and intermediary features involved, officers are satisfied that assets within the vicinity 

would not be ‘harmed’ by this proposal, within the meaning provided by Historic England guidance9 and 

expanded by the NPPF. 

 

The application is therefore considered as acceptable in this regard. 

 

Landscape Impact and Impact Upon the Character of the Area 

 

The NPPF states that the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside should be recognised in 

decision-taking. Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy requires development proposals to protect the landscape 

of the District. In addition to the requirements of Policy CS8, Policy CS14 also seeks to protect and enhance 

existing green infrastructure and states that on larger sites it will be central to the character and layout of 

the development. Additionally, it requires that particular consideration be given to ensuring that any new 

provision links to existing green infrastructure. 

 

Policy CR04 specifically relates to Special Landscape Areas (SLA). This is a local, non-statutory 

designation used to categorise sensitive landscapes. The policy states that: 

 

“Development proposals in Special Landscape Areas will only be permitted where they: 

• maintain or enhance the special landscape qualities of the area, identified in the relevant landscape 

appraisal; and 

• are designed and sited so as to harmonise with the landscape setting.” 

 

Further, Policy CS8 requires applications be assessed with regard to: 

 

“Retention of the natural area known as the island site (a separate 16 hectares approximately) and existing 

landscape tracts, together with proposals for further measures.” 

 

 

                                                           
9 English Heritage, (2008) Conservation Principles, Policies and Guidance. 

Page 17



 

 

The site incorporates a mix of mature vegetation along its boundaries and features a number of mature 

trees and other scrub/shrub within. Areas of hardstanding and remaining features associated with the 

former sugar factory lie immediately to the east, however within the same wider land parcel as allocated 

under Policy CS8. A very small portion of land at the south-western corner of the site is designated by the 

Council as forming part of a Special Landscape Area; however, no development is to be located within that 

area and so Policy CR04, in strict terms, is not engaged.10 Nevertheless, the impact of development upon 

its landscape setting and, in this instance the adjacent SLA, requires careful treatment. 

 

Notwithstanding the physically constrained nature of the site – it is not considered to present itself as being 

‘open’ countryside – it is inevitable that developing the land will pose an impact upon the character of the 

site and its immediate setting, where it falls within the wider valley landscape and SLA designation. 

However, the key question, acknowledging the planning policy context, is whether the visual impact of the 

development can be reasonably assimilated or mitigated as it relates to the wider landscape setting. 

 

In that respect and having regard for the submission of a detailed landscape strategy that provides for 

strategic landscape around the perimeter of development plot(s) and public frontage, officers accept that 

adequate effort has been made to mitigate the urbanised aspects of this infrastructure application. For 

example, landscape mitigation extends also to incorporating green features such as trees and swales within 

the estate road areas. Acknowledging Policy CS8, important landscape areas are to be retained; and no 

development is to take place within the ‘island site’ (albeit this area falls outside the red-lined application 

area). 

 

Aside from the likely development across the rest of the land allocation, from longer views the development 

would be perceived against the backdrop of existing development and/or landscaping. It would not, 

therefore, be readily identifiable as an isolated development nor would it be harmful by way of prominence. 

To ensure that this is the case, opportunities can be taken to safeguard that any existing screened 

boundaries to the site are retained in their naturalised form and where possible those boundaries can be 

reinforced and complemented in accordance with the submitted and accepted details. 

 

In light of the above, the application is considered acceptable in respect of the likely impacts of the 

development upon the landscape and its impact upon the character and appearance of the area. 

 

Residential Amenity 

 

One of the core planning principles within paragraph 17 of the NPPF is that local planning authorities should 

always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future 

occupants of land and buildings, and this is also required by policy CN01 of the Local Plan. Policy EN22 of 

the Local Plan relates to lighting and aims to minimise light spill and pollution to safeguard residential 

amenity, as well as the character of an area and highway safety. Policy CS8 is clear that applications are 

expected to pose “no material adverse impacts on residential amenity”. 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
10 This follows the reasoning set out by the Court of Appeal in relation to Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Paragraphs 115 & 116 of the 
NPPF; see Cherkley Campaign Ltd, R (on the application of) v Mole Valley District Council & Anor [2014] EWCA Civ 567. 

Page 18



 

 

As such, and in respect of the nature of the application submitted, consideration needs to be given as to 

whether the proposal would be likely to give rise to any material harm to the amenity of neighbouring 

residential occupants, by reason of impacts including loss of light, outlook11, or other potential impacts 

associated with the proposed development and its construction; such as emissions of noise, light or dust. 

 

In relation to the consideration of amenity impacts, there are a number of residential properties located 

south of River Gipping and at Sproughton, to the west beyond the A14. Within its context, the proposed 

development would not, in itself, give rise to potential visual, acoustic and air quality impacts. Acceptable 

lighting can be controlled through typical planning conditions, notwithstanding the proximity of the 

application site to surrounding development and artificial lighting. As typical for developments of this nature, 

a condition(s) to secure an acceptable construction strategy having regard to amenity/environmental 

impacts is recommended. 

 

In light of the above, the application is considered acceptable and would accord with the requirements of 

the development plan. 

 

Resilience to Climate Change: Flood Risk and Drainage 

 

Adaption to, and resilience against, climate change is a key consideration of sustainable development in 

the NPPF. Policy CS8 notwithstanding (which requires an assessment of flood risk), this is echoed 

throughout the Core Strategy, primarily through Policies CS1, CS12 and CS15, which require that 

development should be designed to a high sustainable development standard. 

 

The great majority of the site falls within Flood Zone 1, where there is a very low probability (less than 1 in 

1000 annually) of river or sea (fluvial) flooding. The southernmost boundary of the site falls within an area 

at a higher risk of flooding (Flood Zones 2 and 3); however, no development is to take place within that 

area. The existing nature of the land also means that there is presently considered to be a low risk of 

surface water (pluvial) flooding. Nevertheless, the scale and nature of the development poses urbanising 

effects that would undoubtedly impact upon the way that the land copes with drainage and run-off. The 

NPPF requires that when determining planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure that 

flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Concerns in relation to flood risk were a key part of local comment. 

 

In a Written Ministerial Statement dated 18th December 2014, the Secretary of State for Local Communities 

and Local Government made it clear that the Government’s expectation is that sustainable drainage 

systems will be provided in new developments wherever this is appropriate. The PPG underlines this by 

stating that on major developments it is expected that SuDS for the management of surface water run-off 

are put in place, unless demonstrated to be inappropriate.12 Further, local planning authorities should 

consult the relevant Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) (in this instance, Suffolk County Council) on the 

management of surface water. 

 

To support the proposal, and acknowledging the aforementioned guidance and policy direction, a detailed 

flood risk and drainage assessment has been submitted by the applicant; this has been accepted by the 

LLFA.  

                                                           
11 ‘Outlook’ is differentiated from matters relating to private views, where impacts upon outlook relate to the living conditions of residents, to be 
protected in the public interest. For example, where cramped development and restricted views give rise to an overbearing sense of enclosure. 
Impact upon public views are considered elsewhere in this report. Impact upon property value is a private interest consideration and is not 
treated as relating to the amenity afforded to residents. 
12 Paragraph: 079 Reference ID: 7-079-20150415 

Page 19



 

 

The submitted detail proposes a suitable surface water drainage strategy (based on the site layout) to drain 

the site and reduce flood risk overall, based on SuDS principles and evidenced by clear drainage 

calculations. 

 

Consequently, the Lead Local Flood Authority has raised no objection to the scheme and is content that 

based on the evidence provided and assumptions made, a viable SuDS strategy is securable to support 

the development, and that the development would not lead to an increased flood risk off-site. Planning 

conditions imposed upon the outline planning permission would ensure that this is the case. 

 

Ecology and Biodiversity 

 

In assessing this application due regard has been given to the provisions of the Natural Environment and 

Rural Communities Act, 2006, is so far as it is applicable to the proposal and the provisions of Conservation 

of Habitats and Species Regulations, 2010 in relation to protected species. The protection of ecology is 

both a core principle of the NPPF and Core Strategy. Policy CS15, in particular, requires new development 

to safeguard ecology and Policy CS8 seeks the “protection of the biodiversity of the locality and any 

opportunities for enhancement.” 

 

Officers consider that there is sufficient ecological information available to understand the impacts of 

development; the likely impacts of development have been adequately surveyed and assessed, particularly 

relating to Priority Habitats and Protected and Priority Species. Pursuant to the requirements of the 

development plan, noting policies CS8 and CS15, and the wider ecological objectives enshrined within the 

NPPF, officers consider that it is reasonable and necessary to secure that the applicant implement, in full, 

the suite of recommendations identified within their submitted Ecological Assessment. In accordance with 

the views of the Council’s appointed Ecologist, Officers also acknowledge the need for a suite of additional 

planning conditions, in the interests of safeguarding and enhancing biodiversity. 

 

On that basis, the application is considered favourably in respect of impacts upon ecology and biodiversity. 

 

Land Contamination 

 

The applicant has submitted assessments that provide an evidenced baseline of the existing contaminative 

risks associated with the development of the site and demonstrate how these can be adequately managed. 

Those details have been assessed by the Council’s appointed consultant and the Environment Agency. It 

is considered that the details submitted are sufficient to identify that there would be no unacceptable risks 

from contamination, subject to conditions to ensure the safe development and future occupancy of the site. 

 

As such, the proposal is considered to comply with Policy CS15 insofar as it relates to land contamination, 

and the NPPF. 

  

Page 20



 

 

 

 

PART FOUR – CONCLUSION  
 

 

Planning Balance and Conclusion 

 

At the heart of the balancing exercise to be undertaken by decision takers is Section 38(6) of the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004; which requires that, if regard is to be had to the development plan for  

the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts, determination must be made in 

accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

Core Strategy Policy CS8 specifically relates to the Strategic Land Allocation within which the application 

site falls. In light of this, it is acknowledged that certain aspects of the Development Plan may well support 

the proposal, notwithstanding Policy CS8, and that other considerations might pull in a different direction; 

it is natural that not every development will accord with every policy within a development plan. Officers 

have nevertheless undertaken to review the merits of this proposal framed against the entirety of the 

Development Plan, comprising the Core Strategy (2014) and the Local Plan (2006). After careful 

assessment, your officers consider that the application complies with Policy CS8 and meets the wider thrust 

of the suite of planning policies that comprise the Development Plan, when considering the proposed 

development and its likely impacts and effects. 

 

As such, the proposal is considered to be sustainable development in accordance with Policy CS1 of the 

Core Strategy and Paragraph 14 of the NPPF and Members are recommended to approve the application 

without delay.  

 

Notwithstanding the Development Plan, the proposed development aligns with the economic, social and 

environmental dimensions of sustainable development and the planning policies contained within the NPPF 

when taken as a whole. Further, the delivery strategy adopted would support the rapid uptake of occupiers 

within the allocated site which is additionally designated as an Enterprise Zone specifically envisaged to 

support commercial development. In the absence of any justifiable or demonstrable material consideration 

indicating otherwise, it is considered that the proposals are therefore acceptable in planning terms and that 

there are no material considerations which would give rise to unacceptable harm.  

 

A positive recommendation to Members is therefore given below. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

That planning permission be granted subject to conditions including: 

 

• Standard time limit for implementation; 

• Development to be in accordance with approved plans; 

• As recommended by the LHA; 

• As recommended by the LLFA/EA where relevant; 

• Ecological mitigation; 

• Land remediation as necessary; 

• Construction/environmental management; 

• Lighting (safeguarding ecology, biodiversity, and residential amenity); 

• Landscape management. 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Application No: DC/17/06058 

Parish: Sproughton 

Location: Former Sugar Beet Factory, Sproughton Road 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Committee Report   

Ward: Brook 

Ward Members: Councillors Barry Gasper and Nick Ridley 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION – GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION 

 

 

Description of Development 

Erection of a high bay distribution unit (Use Class B8) with ancillary offices (Use Class B1) and 

gatehouse, together with associated landscape, drainage and parking. 

 

Location 

Former Sugar Beet Factory, Sproughton Road, Sproughton, Ipswich IP1 5AL 

 

Parish: Sproughton   

Expiry Date: 21/03/2018 

Application Type: Full Planning Application 

Development Type: Major - Large Scale 

 

Applicant: LDH (La Doria) Ltd and First Industrial 

Agent: Turley 

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 
The application is referred to committee for the following reasons: 
 

1. The Corporate Manager – Growth and Sustainable Planning considers the application to be of a 
controversial nature having regard to the scale of development posed, its location, and its 
relationship to other planning applications currently affecting the site. 
 

2. It includes the erection of an industrial building with a gross floor space exceeding 3,750 sqm.1 
 
Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions and any member site visit 

 

Members of the Planning Committee undertook an inspection of the site and its surroundings on 14th 

February 2018. 

 

 
 
 
 

  

                                                           
1 The internal floor space to be created by this development would be c.24,000 sqm. 

Item No: 2 Reference: DC/17/06235 
Case Officer: Steven Stroud 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5b



 

 

 
 

PART TWO – APPLICATION BACKGROUND AND DETAILS  
 

 

Relevant Planning History 

 

The application site (and the parcel of land within which it sits) has a long history of use; most notably, as 

a factory for the production of sugar from beet. That use ceased around the Millennium, with most 

structures - save for four large concrete silos - being demolished or removed. Most recently, uses across 

the site have extended to B8 (storage) and motorcycle training, under a temporary permission (which 

expires in September 2018)2. 

 

The demolition of the silos (and other associated tanks/structures) was approved in 20173 and at the time 

of writing this report those works are nearing completion. Planning permission was also granted during 

2017 for the erection of a 30m tower to allow for the nesting of a Peregrine Falcon4. 

 

The Council has committed to supporting the principle of retaining/expanding employment uses across the 

site and surrounding land through iterations of the plan-making process; this has culminated in the 

allocation of the site through the present Core Strategy (Policy CS8): ‘Sproughton Strategic Employment 

Site Allocation’. 

 

The Council’s resolve in supporting such an allocation is clear, where the inherent planning principles have 

been shaped through public engagement and have been democratically approved. An application for a 

mixed-use (including 1100 dwellings) development was considered at appeal and dismissed by the 

Secretary of State in 20075. In reaching their decision the Secretary of State noted the considerable tension 

between allowing such a development to proceed, and the Development Plan (then Policy EM04) which 

had expressly allocated the site for employment purposes. Policy EM04 remains extant; however, Policy 

CS8 is now considered to be the lead policy for determining applications pursuant to the Allocation, as it 

represents the most recent iteration of the plan-making process, examined as post-NPPF planning policy. 

 

Members will note that this application is to be determined whilst two other applications relating to the land 

comprising the Allocation require consideration. Officers do not consider that the status of those 

applications should, or would, undermine the ability of Members to determine the application before them 

on its own merits and based upon the recommendations laid out within this report. That said, and as will 

be explained within the separate reports to Members, it is necessary to understand the relationship 

between applications and how they might be linked depending on the decisions to be taken. 

 

A Government initiative designated new ‘Enterprise Zone’ sites in April 2016; Sproughton Enterprise Park 

is one of 10 sites within the New Anglia LEP’s Space to Innovate Enterprise Zone. The purpose of these 

newly designated Zones is to fast-track development of land allocated for employment through measures, 

including: 

 

 

• making it more attractive for local authorities to support development, via business rates retention; 

                                                           
2 Application Reference: B/16/00762. 
3 Application Reference: B/17/00955. 
4 Application Reference: DC/17/03406. 
5 Appeal Reference: 2030150. 

Page 26



 

 

• making it more attractive to future business occupiers by offering them business rates relief (funded 

by central government); 

• ensuring access to superfast broadband is available for all occupiers; 

• prioritising funding to EZ sites to secure delivery of employment and economic growth. 

Delivery partners New Anglia LEP and Ipswich Borough Council (including officers from this Council) are 

confident that the availability of serviced employment land at Sproughton will help to ensure additional 

employment and economic growth within the area. Together with a number of other identified sites across 

Suffolk and Norfolk, the Enterprise Zone will help to create 18,500 jobs within the 25-year lifetime of the 

zone, including 5,000 jobs by 2021. On occupation, the return of business rates to the relevant Enterprise 

Zone partners could be used for reinvestment; for example, funding for site-specific infrastructure. 

 

Site and Surroundings 

 

The application site is located to the south of Junction 54 of the A14 as it meets Sproughton Road and 

comprises approximately 5.6ha of land within the wider site. The Site wholly falls within the parish of 

Sproughton, though lies close to the administrative boundary between the district of Babergh and the 

borough of Ipswich; its town centre lies to the south-east. 

 

The A14 runs parallel to the western boundary of the site and is a major trunk road. Existing commercial 

areas lie to the east and north-east; the River Gipping is to the south with nearby residential dwellings 

around 375m to the south-east. The nearest residential properties are located to the west, approximately 

300m from the westernmost site boundary and being separated by the A14 and vegetation of varying 

degrees of maturity and thickness. The site is generally blank and featureless; the wider land parcel within 

which it sits incorporates a mix of vegetation along its boundaries and features a number of mature trees 

and other scrub/shrub. Areas of hardstanding and remaining features associated with the former sugar 

factory lie immediately to the east, however within the same wider land parcel as allocated under Policy 

CS8. 

 

The site wholly falls within Flood Zone 1, where there is a very low probability (less than 1 in 1000 annually) 

of river or sea (fluvial) flooding. The existing nature of the land also means that there is presently considered 

to be a low risk of surface water (pluvial) flooding. 

 

There are no designated heritage assets within the red-lined application area, however the Grade II Park 

and Garden of Chantry Park, including its Grade II Gatehouse and Gatepiers, and; the Grade II Red House 

(and associated, individually listed, Grade II barn) are located along Hadleigh Road in an elevated position 

to the valley within which the applicate site lies, both being over 500m away and demarcated by intervening 

hard/soft features. 

 

The site is not within or adjacent to a Conservation Area. Nor is it within or adjacent to an Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty, Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Air Quality Management Area, Local 

Green Space, or Area of Visual/Recreational Amenity. Whilst not affecting any land designated nationally 

(or internationally) for its environmental quality, the land adjacent to the south and west of the site is 

designated by the Council as forming part of a Special Landscape Area; however, no development is to be 

located within that area and it is outside of the application site. 

 

Page 27



 

 

No Public Rights of Way (PROW) run through the site; however, it is within proximity to a local network of 

footways and other routes associated with ‘soft’ modes of transport. This includes a river path route running 

along the River Gipping, which is beyond but parallel to the southern site boundary. 

 

The Proposal 

 

The applicant seeks ‘full’ Planning Permission for the development of a high-bay storage and distribution 

facility with ancillary office space and associated landscaping, drainage and parking. The development has 

been composed to the bespoke requirements of the end user, LDH (La Doria) Ltd, who are a leading UK 

distributor of ambient food products imported from around the world.  The development would enable them 

to respond to their specific operational needs, which are currently met at four different locations including 

at the port of Felixstowe. The development would initially accommodate up to 120 members of staff, with 

potential for that number to increase over time where the development has been designed to allow for 

future growth. Subject to the grant of planning permission, development would commence this year, to 

enable occupation by 2020. 

 

The proposed distribution building has an overall floor space of 24,215sqm (GIA) and is rectangular in 

shape roughly oriented from north-south. It is predominantly 18m in height, with the ‘high bay’ element 

extending to 41m and following the same orientation, on the eastern side of the building and taking up 

approximately one-third of the building’s footprint. The building would have 28 loading docks as well as 13 

level entry doors, all accessed from the service yard on the western side with parking for HGV’s also located 

there and to the north. 

 

The ancillary office accommodation is located on the eastern elevation, facing into the rest of the Enterprise 

Park site. This has been designed to create an active frontage to the estate road, and to provide a glazed 

focal point for visual interest. Parking for cars is located close to the office accommodation, on the eastern 

elevation and provision has also been made for cycle parking, changing and shower facilities to support 

access by sustainable transport modes. 

 

The main building would be of a steel, portal-framed construction, with metal wall and roof cladding. The 

proposed design incorporates a dark grey plinth of vertical profiled cladding, with solid white bands of 

microrib cladding above. The purpose of that elevational treatment is to minimise the perceived height of 

the building against the background skyline; which is a typical approach for buildings of the kind proposed.   

 

Vehicular access would be taken from the estate road, details of which are proposed in the associated 

infrastructure works planning application6 submitted by Ipswich Borough Council – the wider landowner – 

and which is to be determined alongside this proposal, albeit separate applications to be determined on 

their own merits. HGV would access the site towards its north-eastern corner, leading directly into the 

internal service yard. A gatehouse to control and direct HGV access is also located within the site and is 

identified on the submitted drawings. Access for cars, pedestrians and cycles would be from a dedicated 

access towards to south-eastern corner of the site (also served by the infrastructure application), leading 

to the car park, office accommodation, and main building entrance. 

 

 

As the site sits within the wider Sproughton Enterprise Park/strategic land allocation, the wider landscape 

context would be set by the landscaping proposals to be delivered as part of the wider approach to delivery. 

                                                           
6 Application Reference: DC/17/06058. 

Page 28



 

 

An element of on-plot landscaping is proposed, albeit its scope is limited. The adequacy of this presentation 

in planning terms is considered later in this report. 

 

The site would be secured with a 2.4m high, ‘paladin’-type fence. The area around the main entrance and 

office accommodation would be demarked with a low-level, post and rail fence. 

 

********** 

 

Members will note that the current application is contingent upon the other ‘full’ planning application for 

infrastructure works that presently affects the strategic land allocation (and is recommended for approval); 

or, some other means of securing access from the site to the public highway (amongst other matters such 

as drainage, for example): the infrastructure works proposal marks the first phase of construction works 

and infrastructure and would serve the first marketable plot(s) for the Enterprise Park being offered by the 

landowner, Ipswich Borough Council.  

 

The application before Members and subject to this report relates to ‘Plot A’ which would be serviced by 

the aforementioned infrastructure proposal. Likewise, it accords with the illustrative layout submitted in 

support of the Outline planning application which affects the entirety of the land allocation and is also 

presently under consideration. 

 

Consequently, whilst Members are tasked with determining each application on its own merits, the separate 

submissions are co-ordinated so as to not hinder or prejudice delivery and in order to provide a coherent 

approach to development within the wider land allocation. In respect of the current B8 proposal and the 

infrastructure application, these are linked to ensure any necessary infrastructure is in place to support the 

building’s construction and occupation. Such considerations are of importance in the event that all three 

applications are held to be acceptable and this will be treated across the three separate reports where 

relevant (and in respect of this report, subsequent sections). The co-ordination or control of delivery of this 

application is considered at relevant points through this report; where, for example, certain elements of 

infrastructure would need to be in place prior to the commencement of development, or occupation. 

Negatively-worded i.e. ‘Grampian’-type planning conditions are typical controls appropriate for that 

purpose. 

 

The application, plans and documents submitted by the Applicant (including consultation responses and 

third-party representations) can be viewed online at: https://planning.baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk/online-

applications/. Alternatively, copies are available to view at the Council offices7. 

 
 

 

Relevant Planning Policies 

 

The Development Plan comprises the policies in the Babergh Local Plan 2011-2031, Core Strategy and 

Policies (2014) document and those ‘saved’ policies within the Babergh Local Plan, Alteration No.2 (2006). 

 

  

                                                           
7 Details of addresses and opening times are available at: http://www.babergh.gov.uk/contact-us/ 

Page 29

https://planning.baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planning.baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/contact-us/


 

 

Core Strategy 

 

The Babergh Local Plan 2011-2031, Core Strategy and Policies (2014) document was adopted on the 25th 

February 2014. The following policies are of particular relevance to this planning application (and the 

related applications aforementioned): 

 

• CS1 - Applying the Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development in Babergh 

• CS2 - Settlement Pattern Policy 

• CS3 - Strategy for Growth and Development 

• CS8 - Sproughton Strategic Employment Site Allocation 

• CS12 - Sustainable Design and Construction Standards 

• CS13 - Renewable/Low Carbon Energy 

• CS14 - Green Infrastructure 

• CS15 - Implementing Sustainable Development in Babergh 

• CS16 - Town, Village and Local Centres 

• CS21 - Infrastructure Provision 

 

Saved Policies in the Local Plan 

 

The ‘saved’ policies within the Babergh Local Plan, Alteration No.2 (2006) adopted June 2006 should be 

regarded as a material consideration in planning decisions. The following policies are of particular 

relevance to the proposal (and the related applications aforementioned): 

  

• CN01 - Design Standards 

• CN04 - Design and Crime Prevention 

• CN06 - Listed Buildings 

• CN14 - Historic Parks and Gardens – National 

• CN15 - Historic Parks and Gardens – Local 

• CR04 - Special Landscape Areas 

• EM02 - General Employment Areas – Existing and New Allocations 

• EM04 - Former ‘British Sugar’ Sproughton 

• EM08 - Warehousing and Distribution 

• EN22 - Light Pollution – Outdoor Lighting 

• TP05 - New Cycle Link – Sproughton 

• TP15 - Parking Standards – New Development  

• TP16 - Green Travel Plans 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) contains the Government’s planning policies for England 

and sets out how these are expected to be applied.  Planning law continues to require that applications for 

planning permission are determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. The three dimensions of sustainable development are highlighted which 

require decision-takers to consider each of the economic, social and environmental aspects of 

development proposals. The policies contained within the NPPF are a material consideration and should 

be taken into account for decision-taking purposes. 

Page 30



 

 

 

Other Considerations 

 

The following documents are also considered as material for the purposes of determining planning 

applications and are considered to be applicable to this proposal by officers: 

 

• Suffolk County Council - Suffolk Guidance for Parking (2014), adopted 2015. 

• The Suffolk Growth Strategy (2013). 

 

On the 6th March 2014, a number of Ministerial planning circulars were cancelled by central Government 

and were replaced by the Government’s online national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). The guidance 

provided is advice on procedure rather than explicit policy; however, it has been taken into account in 

reaching the recommendation made on this application. 

 

The PPG is an online reference and is available at the following internet address: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance. 

 

The relevant policies referred to above can be viewed online. Please see the notes attached to the 

Schedule. 

 
Consultations and Representations 

 

Pre-application discussions were held with the applicants prior to the application being lodged and officer 

feedback has informed the current proposals. However, due to the timing and commercial confidentiality 

of discussions prior to the application being submitted i.e. between the applicant and the landowner, 

Ipswich Borough Council, the applicant has explained that it was not possible to engage in wider pre-

application consultation either with the public or with Sproughton Parish Council. However, as part of the 

consultation and publicity process, officers later facilitated a meeting between the Parish Council, the 

applicant and their agents, in Sproughton.   (Agents representing IBC who have submitted the two other 

applications presently affecting the land allocation under Policy CS8 also attended). The purpose of that 

meeting, held on 23rd January 2018, was to explore common ground, discuss relevant issues, and for the 

applicant to explain their intentions for the site and justification for the development proposed. 

Subsequently, and in response to the concerns raised by the Parish Council at that meeting, the applicant 

provided a letter (which is available for viewing along with all other application documents on the website) 

in order to address or provide comfort on those issues. 

 

All of those most recent or relevant responses received prior to the completion of this report are 

summarised or directly quoted below; nevertheless, all responses received are available to view on the 

Council’s website at the address given above. Given the lengthy/technical nature of some of the responses 

received, Members are directed to consider the original copies of those documents. 

 

Any further responses or representations will be reported through the Addendum Paper and/or at Planning 

Committee.  

 
 
 
 
  

Page 31

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


 

 

 
Summary of Consultations 
 
Sproughton Parish Council 
 

• Very few jobs would be created. 

• The building would not be BREEAM ‘excellent’ as required by Policy CS12. 

• Quoted dimensions are not clear and building significantly higher than indicated. 

• Scale of building not justified. 

• Does not meet the criteria for good design. 

• Concern in respect of LVIA evidence, conclusions. 

• Would harm residential amenity. 

• Considerable visual impact. 

• Activity associated with the use has been ignored. 

• Air quality concerns. 

• Concern in respect of lighting; pollution and amenity. 

• Noise concerns; noise assessment flawed. 

• Transport Assessment is flawed. 

• Must be considered against policies CS8, EM04, CR04, CS15. 

• Potentially the largest commercial building in Suffolk. 

• Would overshadow the traditional core of Sproughton village. 

• Will dominate the local landscape. 
 
“It is our contention that this application would have an unreasonable and severe impact on the residential 
amenity, the community of Sproughton, and the SLA landscape, visually due to its excessive size and 
location, due to excessive light from HGV movements at night, due to noise, again, caused by excessive 
HGV movements, especially at night when the cumulative noise levels in residential areas are already 
close to unacceptable levels and will be raised well above them. These impacts are unacceptable and in 
contradiction to the above BDC Policies. 
The associated reports massively understate the impacts of the building and its HGV capacity, use 
misleading terminology and data, and unjustifiably dismiss or criticise the value of the landscape and 
residential amenity of Sproughton. 
 
There is a massive contradiction, either the building should be assessed against what it is and the levels 
of impact it can generate, or if significantly lower levels of activity are required then there is no need for 
such a massive building.” 
 
Pinewood Parish Council 
 

• Objection to the height of the building as it imposes on existing local surroundings and abuts a 
Special Landscape Area. 

• Objection to lack of proposed infrastructure capable of effectively dealing with increased volume of 
traffic to/from proposed site. 

 
Suffolk County Council (Local Highway Authority) 
 

• No objection, subject to conditions. 

• Application is intrinsically linked to infrastructure proposal. 

• The individual impacts of the proposal are not so great as to require s106 contributions. 

• Early determination of the Outline proposal is recommended to secure wider site and connectivity 
improvements. 

 
 

Page 32



 

 

 
Suffolk County Council (Lead Local Flood Authority) 
 

• No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
SCC (Archaeology) 
 

• No objection subject to conditions to record and advance understanding of the significance of any 
heritage asset before it is damaged or destroyed. 
 

SCC (Fire and Rescue) 
 

• No objection, recommend hydrants condition. 
 
 
Place Services – Landscape (BDC appointed consultant) 
 

• No objection; comments and recommendations. 

• The LVIA demonstrates that adverse visual impact is generally localised to the southern and 
western residential areas. 

• Off-site planting should be incorporated where available, to further mitigate impact. 
 
[It has additionally been confirmed, in writing, that Place Services accept the findings of the submitted LVIA] 
 
Place Services – Ecology (BDC appointed consultant) 
 

• No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Suffolk Wildlife Trust 
 

• No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Environmental Protection Officer – BDC (noise, amenity issues) 
 

• No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Economic Development Officer – BDC 
 

• Recommend approval. 
 
Highways England 
 

• No objection. 
 
Ministry of Defence 
 

• No objection. 
 
Summary of Representations 
 
Those other representations received are summarised as follows: 
 

• Negative visual impact of buildings. 

Page 33



 

 

• Would overshadow properties. 

• Disturbance from increase in traffic. 

• Highway safety concerns. 

• Lack of highway capacity to meet development demands. 

• Size and scale of structures would dominate skyline. 

• Unacceptable noise impacts from development operations/occupation. 

• Objection to height parameters of buildings applied for. 

• Concern over HGV reversing ‘beeps’ and other disturbance. 

• Lighting impact concerns. 

• Development should be screened. 

• Lack of public engagement from developers. 

• Unacceptable traffic movements through Sproughton. 

• External building materials are poor. 

• Fails to meet BREEAM requirements. 

• Does not accord with development plan. 

• Harm to historic environment. 

• Air quality concerns. 

• LVIA is flawed. 

• Visual impacts are severe, not moderate. 

• Harmful to wildlife. 

• Would be as large as the silos. 

• Clearly has adverse impact on residential amenity. 

• Property valuation concerns/need for compensation. 

• Conflicts with parameters of Outline proposal. 

• Minimal job creation, would not outweigh harm posed. 

• Flooding concerns. 

• Harmful impact on riverpath and access. 

• Adequate land is available in Felixstowe. 

• Screening would be impossible. 

• Conflict between this application and outline. 

• Loss of light. 

• Loss of view. 

• Loss of outlook. 

• Noise and light pollution. 

• Building not appropriate for its location. 

• Transport assessment is deficient. 

• Blocks an identified route for Sproughton relief road. 

• Transport mitigation measures must be secured. 

• Landscaping must be robust. 

• Protection of ecological island site is welcome. 

• Potentially biggest building in Suffolk. 

• 24hr operations would be intolerable. 

• Devoid of character and poor design. 
 
All consultee responses and representations received to date have been noted and have been taken into 

account when reaching the recommendations as set out below. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 34



 

 

 
 

PART THREE – ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION  
 

 
From an assessment of the relevant planning policies, site history and land constraints/designations, 

representations and consultation responses received and other material planning considerations, the main 

issues in determining this application are considered, as following: 

 

• The Principle of Development – Policy CS8 and EM08 

• Highway Impacts, Connectivity and Sustainable Transport 

• Heritage 

• Landscape and Visual Impact and Impact Upon the Character of the Area 

• Residential Amenity  

• Resilience to Climate Change: Flood Risk, Drainage and Building Performance 

• Ecology and Biodiversity 

• Land Contamination 

• Economic Impacts/Benefits 

• Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
The Principle of Development – Policy CS8 and EM08 

 

The application site was first allocated for employment development under Policy EM04 of the Babergh 

Local Plan. It is now included as a strategic employment allocation within the Babergh Core Strategy. Policy 

CS8 of the Core Strategy is considered to be the lead planning policy (from the Development Plan) for 

assessing the in-principle acceptance of proposals affecting the land. It is therefore afforded weight as a 

post-NPPF development plan policy. Policy CS8 gives clear support to the use of the land for employment 

related uses and provides a detailed framework to guide the development of the site.   

 

In this respect the following paragraph taken from that policy is of importance: 

 

“Proposals for redevelopment or re-use of the previously developed site (35.5 hectares) must be 

planned/approached on a comprehensive basis, with regard to the future of the entire site. Co-ordination 

of development could be achieved through a Masterplan and / or development brief / concept statement.” 

 

Following the plan-making process which has already endorsed the allocation of this strategic site for 

employment purposes and the adoption of Policy CS8, the purpose of the ‘masterplan’, then advised under 

that Policy, is to enable the development of a comprehensive scheme to be considered and approved in 

due course, where deemed to be acceptable within the confines of that allocated area. Whilst a masterplan 

has not yet been adopted and this is preferable (and it is noted that in that respect IBC have provided a 

masterplan pursuant to their Outline proposal), an absence of such is not unacceptable; rather, the key 

matter relates to the ability to properly plan for, and co-ordinate, the land allocation in its entirety and for 

this coherent process not to be compromised.  

 

  

Page 35



 

 

This application, and the related - and aforementioned - detailed application for the first phase of 

infrastructure serving the site, which has been submitted by the wider landowner, only represents a portion 

of the land included in the overall strategic land allocation. However, officers do not consider that it should 

be a necessity for one single proposal, such as this, to comprise the entirety of the land allocation; the 

consequence of such might be to delay occupation from being brought forward in a timely fashion and 

inhibit economic investment and growth, contrary to the core principles of NPPF. The critical point is that 

coherent and co-ordinated development is planned for, and that all development permitted within the 

allocation area reflects the over-riding policy aspirations and does not compromise the overall delivery of 

the site. Whilst this might take the form of an overarching masterplan, where any individual ‘piecemeal’ 

developments are brought forward outside of this process, so long as they would not prejudice the delivery 

of such a plan and/or can indicate how those developments can acceptably take place within the allocation 

area, with linkages and mitigation as may be appropriate, such an approach would be satisfactory in light 

of the wording of the Policy. 

 

This approach would also be consistent with the acknowledgement in Policy CS8 that the strategic 

allocation is ‘very large’ and ‘complex’ and that its development is expected to be brought forward and 

implemented in phases, requiring collaborative and proactive engagement with landowners and developers 

in order to achieve its successful redevelopment, over the Plan period.   

 

In the event that Members are minded to approve both full applications as submitted (i.e. the infrastructure 

application and this current proposal submitted by the first occupier, as recommended by officers), there 

would be no conflict in bringing forward the development of the site as envisaged by the lead policy. Equally, 

in the event that the present employment use proposal is considered acceptable, and the other not, this 

would still be unlikely to prejudice a comprehensive approach to development for the site (albeit the 

occupier’s proposal would be unable to operate until relevant infrastructure has been delivered). 

 

Further, the submitted employment application fully accords with the layout envisaged through the 

masterplan which accompanies the current Outline application; it is defined as ‘Plot A’ in this context.  The 

siting of the building, its proposed use, scale and access arrangements are all consistent and serve to 

demonstrate that a comprehensive approach to delivery across the land allocation has been a key driver 

and is being planned for.  

 

Key policy CS8 is not specific in terms of defining a particular height parameter in respect of employment 

development within the strategic allocation. In this regard, the current Outline application proposes a 

maximum height parameter of 28m. The current employment proposals would give rise to a building which, 

in part would be 41m high; and would therefore sit outside the proposed masterplan parameters.  Whilst 

this inconsistency is notable it does not undermine Policy CS8 or the need to consider each proposal 

carefully on its own merits. 

 

Nevertheless, officers do give significant weight to the approach presented by the applicant, which requires 

consideration to be afforded to the positive benefits that would accrue through allowing this ‘first’ and 

named occupier-led application to proceed.  This outcome would enable development to be brought 

forward quickly (and feasibility/viability are key limbs of Policy CS8) in response to a specific commercial 

context and Enterprise Zone status. In that respect it is understood that the applicant needs to have 

relocated to a fully functional unit tailored to their requirements, by 2020 (with commencement in Spring 

2018), in order to meet their specific business needs.  

Page 36



 

 

It is further understood that the decision to invest in this site has followed an extensive site search exercise, 

carried over several years. These are considerations held to be material in determining this application, 

given the reality that the Council presently has two separate, but aligned full planning applications before 

them, which are driven by a commercial imperative to secure delivery of a new B8 distribution unit in this 

specific location, for a named occupier. Alongside this the NPPF, at Paragraph 21, is clear that investment 

in business should not be over-burdened by the combined requirements of planning policy expectations; 

efforts should be made to recognise and address any barriers to investment. The significant economic 

benefits in allowing development to proceed in light of this independent application are considered later in 

this report. 

 

From the preceding policy context, what follows is an assessment of this application against the 

requirements of Policy CS8 (where relevant, given nature of this application as a single proposal and its 

site area) and the wider policies within the Development Plan and the NPPF, grouped under those key 

material planning considerations identified above. Officers consider that, subject to positive appraisal 

against those considerations, the principle of development would be acceptable. 

 

Policy EM08 

 

Specifically, Policy EM08 states that:   

 

“Proposals for warehousing, storage and distribution will be permitted at General Employment Areas and 

new employment allocations, subject to the acceptability of the location and characteristics of these sites. 

Proposals that take up an excessive amount of land, or are more appropriately located elsewhere, for 

example at ports or closer to trunk roads, will be refused.”   

 

Policy CS8 is the lead policy for the determination of this proposal and is a land allocation that, through its 

terms, expressly allocates new employment land. Therefore, in accordance with the first limb of Policy 

EM08, the provision of warehousing, storage and distribution would be acceptable subject to an 

assessment of that proposal having regard to its location and impact upon surrounding environs i.e. its 

individual merits. 

 

On that basis, it is noted that the proposal responds to a clear and specific market need and, as will be 

confirmed in the subsequent section, would be acceptable in highway terms; it is also located directly 

adjacent to the A14 trunk road. Furthermore, the proposed B8 use is not adjudged to take up an ‘excessive 

amount of land’, comprising 5.6ha within the wider strategic allocation which comprises over 35ha of land 

and where the applicant has provided clear justification for the scale of development proposed. 

 

Highway Impacts, Connectivity, and Sustainable Transport 

 

The highway impacts of the proposed development are such that they comprise one of the main areas of 

concern for consultees and local residents in their representations on the application. Paragraph 32 of the 

NPPF states that proposals must provide safe and suitable access for all and that transport networks 

should be improved in a cost-effective way to limit any significant impact of the development on the 

surrounding area, whilst taking account of sustainable transport options. A key planning principle within the 

NPPF is that local planning authorities should support a transition to a low-carbon future through, inter alia, 

planning for the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions.  

Page 37



 

 

Paragraph 32 also makes it clear that proposals must only be refused on transport grounds where residual 

cumulative impacts would be ‘severe’. This is interpreted as referring to matters of highway capacity and 

congestion, as opposed to matters of highway safety, notwithstanding that safety is of course a significant 

consideration in itself8. 

 

The lead policies to consider from the Development Plan, in addition to Policy CS8, are CS14 and CS15 

of the Babergh Core Strategy and saved policies TP05, TP15 and TP16 of the Babergh Local Plan. These 

policies seek to secure development that is well laid out in terms of site access and highway safety, traffic 

flow and the environment, with the need to secure sustainable travel planning details. 

 

Specifically, in relation to Policy CS8 development is required to provide for: 

 

• “protection of the wider river environment in the locality and any opportunities for enhancement, 

including improvement of the River Gipping Riverside Path; 

• production of a satisfactory green travel plan, with regard to provision / upgrading of sustainable 

transport access between the site, nearby villages and Ipswich town centre as necessary; 

• the provision of any necessary measures to address transport impacts offsite, including speed 

management, remodelled roundabout(s) providing access to the A14 and mitigation of additional 

development-related traffic generated through Sproughton village”. 

 

Traffic/Capacity Impacts 

 

The traffic movements to be generated by the development, including those of the workforce and HGV, 

have been quantified within the submitted Transport Assessment that has been considered by officers and 

the LHA. That Assessment has utilised local and strategic network modelling, taking into account the 

existing baseline conditions along with those predicted when allowing for future growth. The overall 

conclusions are that the traffic to be generated by the development, noting its principle storage/distribution 

status, would be relatively low when presented against the network as a whole. 

 

The applicant’s operations are port-centric. In practice, this means that they rely upon imports from abroad 

– which in this context relates to the port of Felixstowe – before distributing throughout the UK food network. 

It is therefore reasonable to presume that given the proximity of the site to the A14, the majority of HGV 

trips (if not all) would be directed onto the strategic road network rather than the local networks through 

Ipswich or Sproughton. Likewise, working patterns are arranged across shifts to account for the 24-hour 

operations of the business, which would mean that car-based commuting would be diffused across the day 

and would therefore limit excessive pressures upon the local highway network (notwithstanding that 

workers might still arrive from/depart via the A14 in any event). 

 

Consequently, it is not necessary for the development to address any offsite transport impacts by way of 

financial contribution or obligation, and this is accepted by the LHA who instead recommend the imposition 

of simple planning conditions and other measures capable of being secured via the standard s278 process. 

 

                                                           
8 There is no definition of ‘severe’ in the NPPF. However, in appeal decisions, Inspectors have concluded that it is not necessary to judge 
whether there is some impact on the network, but whether that impact is severe. That test is ‘a high test’, deliberately set so as to get 
development moving forward. 

Page 38



 

 

Further, Highways England have raised no objection to the proposal in relation to impacts upon the wider 

strategic road network. This is an additional consideration that sits within the context of the test of severity 

set out at Paragraph 32 of the NPPF, as described above. 

 

Access, Layout and Parking 

 

In this instance, there are two points of vehicular access serving the site which rely upon the delivery of an 

internal estate road from the public highway and Junction 54. The acceptability of those entry/egress points 

have been treated positively by the Local Highway Authority (LHA) subject to conditions and officers 

endorse that view. In addition, conditions triggered in relation to commencement and occupation are 

recommended in order to secure delivery of the infrastructure necessary to serve the development. 

Feasibly, this might be satisfied through the delivery of the associated infrastructure planning application – 

recommended by officers for approval – but conditions are appropriate to ensure that this occurs before 

the first use/occupation of the development, regardless of the outcome of the separate application. 

 

HGV would access the site towards its north-eastern corner, leading directly into the internal service yard. 

A gatehouse to control and direct HGV access is also located within the site and is identified on the 

submitted drawings. Access for cars, pedestrians and cycles would be from a dedicated access towards 

to south-eastern corner of the site, leading to the car park, office accommodation, and main building 

entrance. The layout in that respect is considered to be coherent and ensures that users are ‘funnelled’ 

appropriately around the site depending on user and transport mode. 

 

Under the advice of the LHA, further conditions are recommended, including those securing: policy-

compliant parking standards, electrical charging points, cycle parking, changing facilities, lighting, and 

construction management. These are all necessary items in light of the Development Plan and have been 

agreed with the applicant. 

 

Connectivity and Sustainable Transport 

 

Policy CS15 seeks to minimise the need to travel by car using alternative means and improving air quality. 

The Site is well-connected to Ipswich and surrounding settlements via the local highway network, which 

includes a proportion of pedestrian and dedicated cycle linkages.  

 

Policy requirements relating to highway mitigation, improvements to the river path, and wider connectivity 

improvements have been considered. As a separate exercise, and in light of the above, this application 

has been considered in relation to the particular planning issues and likely impacts/effects that it poses; 

the outcome is that it is not held to be necessary to secure those particular measures outlined within Policy 

CS8 (and TP05) given the nature of the proposal and movements likely to be generated. It is appropriate, 

and likely, that such matters would be material to other applications affecting the land allocation; to be 

considered on their own merits and within separate reports compiled by officers for review by Planning 

Committee, depending on scale. As noted, this application does not prejudice other proposals or 

considerations relating to a comprehensive masterplan for the site and any mitigation that may be required 

in relation to other employment uses planned or applied for. 

 

 

  

Page 39



 

 

The requirement for a Travel Plan is supported by the NPPF at Paragraph 32; other relevant paragraphs 

of the NPPF include 34, 35, 36 and 37 as well as the ‘Travel Plans, Transport Assessments and Statements 

in Decision-taking’ section of the PPG. Securing such a Travel Plan is further supported under the 

Development Plan, particularly Policy CS8. 

 

In light of local and national planning policy, including Policy CS8, the applicant has provided details of an 

Interim Travel Plan and given a commitment to ensuring that, concurrent with occupation of the 

development, a more detailed Travel Plan will need to be submitted to and agreed with the Council; this is 

accepted by officers. The mechanism to secure such detail would involve a planning condition as 

recommended by the LHA. Having regard for the Interim Travel Plan it is also feasible that sustainable 

options could be linked to the wider Enterprise Park as future occupiers come forward; this is capable of 

consideration at the appropriate time and in light of the Full Travel Plan to be secured. 

 

Conclusion 

 

Officers endorse the views of the LHA who have assessed that, subject to appropriate conditions, the 

development is capable of adequate assimilation into the local and strategic highway network; residual 

cumulative impacts would not be severe, appropriate Travel Plan measures can be implemented, and the 

access to be provided would be safe and suitable in its presentation.  

 

Therefore, in light of the preceding assessment the development is considered favourably in respect of 

highway impact, sustainable transport, and accessibility/connectivity. 

 

Heritage 

 

With reference to the overall treatment of the submitted application, the Council embraces its statutory 

duties and responsibilities, notably; Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 which requires the Local Planning Authority to have “special regard to the desirability of 

preserving [a] building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 

possesses”. Officers interpret this to mean having special regard to the desirability of keeping such 

designated assets from harm. Case law pertaining to the application of that duty acknowledges that the 

consideration of the impact of a proposed development upon the significance of a designated heritage 

asset is a matter for a local planning authority’s own planning judgement, but that a local planning authority 

is required to give any harm that it identifies considerable importance and weight; such harm as may be 

identified gives rise to a strong presumption against planning permission being granted9. 

 

The NPPF sets out the Government's national planning policies for the conservation of the historic 

environment and builds upon the 1990 Act referred to above. Paragraphs 132-134 state, inter alia, that 

when considering the impact of works or development upon the significance of a designated heritage asset, 

great weight should be given to the asset's conservation; any harm requires clear and convincing 

justification. Policy CS8 notwithstanding, Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy and Policies CN06, CN14 and 

CN15 of the Babergh Local Plan seek to secure the preservation or enhancement of the historic 

environment (i.e. to keep designated assets from harm). In accordance with the NPPF due weight must be 

given to the policies contained within the development plan according to their degree of consistency with 

the NPPF. The aforementioned policies are considered to be consistent with the NPPF and so are afforded 

a strong weighting. 

                                                           
9 R. (on the application of Lady Hart of Chilton) v Babergh DC [2014] EWHC 3261 (Admin). 

Page 40



 

 

 

In addition to being a ‘full’ application, the submitted details provide adequate opportunity to make an 

assessment as to the potential impacts of the development upon the historic environment. As noted, the 

assessment of whether there is likely to be harm to a designated heritage asset is a matter for the LPA’s 

own planning judgement, having regard for the facts and details before them. In this case, there are no 

designated heritage assets within the red-lined application area, however a number of assets are in 

proximity to the Site. Whilst Historic England have not provided any comments in response to the 

application (consulted December 201710) those assets likely to be affected by the development would be: 

The Grade II Park and Garden of Chantry Park, including its Grade II Gatehouse and Gatepiers, and; the 

Grade II Red House (and associated, individually listed, Grade II barn). Those assets are located along 

Hadleigh Road in an elevated position to the valley within which the development would be sited, being 

over 500m away and demarcated by intervening hard/soft features. No other assets would be impacted by 

the proposal having regard for the significant demarcation and separation/disturbance between those 

assets (in the centre of Sproughton, for example) and the proposed development. 

 

Due to the nature of the development; its scale, form, and detailed design; its relationship to adjacent 

development; separation distances, and; intermediary features involved, officers are satisfied that those 

identified assets within the vicinity would not be ‘harmed’ by this proposal, within the meaning provided by 

Historic England guidance11 and expanded by the NPPF. Whilst the locations of the Red House assets are 

afforded a far more open setting, with a wide prospect down and across the valley, the proposed 

development, despite its presentation and scale, would be viewed against its localised context and the 

backdrop of adjacent development. Whilst an impact would be posed by virtue of its visual presence, this 

is not considered to undermine the setting of those assets to the extent that harm would be posed; rather, 

the significance derived from the present setting of affected assets would be preserved. Officers therefore 

endorse the views presented through the technical submissions provided by the applicant which state that 

due to the relevant separation distance, the extent of intervening development and landscaping and the 

local context, it is not considered that the proposed development would be visible from these assets or 

affect their significance. 

 

Archaeology 

 

Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy seeks to secure the conservation and/or enhancement of the historic 

environment. It further states that “…Proposals for development must ensure adequate protection, 

enhancement, compensation and/or mitigation, as appropriate are given to distinctive local features which 

characterise the landscape and heritage assets…”. This is consistent with Paragraph 141 of the NPPF. 

 

The Site lies in an area of archaeological potential recorded on the County Historic Environment Record, 

in close proximity to finds relating to Mesolithic and Palaeolithic occupation. There are no grounds to 

consider refusal of permission in order to achieve preservation in situ of any important heritage assets. 

However, any permission granted should be the subject of a planning condition(s) to record and advance 

understanding of the significance of any heritage asset before it is damaged or destroyed. 

 

In light of the above, conditions are recommended in-line with the requirements of the County 

Archaeological Service, in order to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 

 

                                                           
10 Historic England has, however, responded to the Outline application not wishing to offer any comments. 
11 English Heritage, (2008) Conservation Principles, Policies and Guidance. 

Page 41



 

 

Conclusion 

 

The application is considered as acceptable with regard to its impacts upon the historic environment. 

 

Landscape and Visual Impact and Impact Upon the Character of the Area 

 

The visual impacts of the proposal as it relates to the wider area and landscape setting were of great 

concern to local residents and the Parish Council in making their representations. The proposed scale and 

height of the building arises from the specific operational requirements of the applicant: The loading and 

despatch areas, together with facilities for product checking and re-handling and for staff amenity are 

accommodated within the main building, which is around half the height of the high-bay element. The high-

bay element would provide the storage and racking capacity required by the applicant to operate efficiently 

and is described by the applicant as being ‘fundamental’ to the scheme; it covers around one-third of the 

footprint of the building. Further, the applicant states that – and as is evident from the submitted drawings 

– the high-bay element has been kept as small as operationally possible, as it wraps around the racking 

operations to ensure that no space is wasted (i.e. that the applicant has reduced the scale of the building 

as much commercial requirements will allow). 

 

During the consultation process it was highlighted to officers that there was disagreement between parties 

in relation to the actual size of the building; representations received indicating that it was greater than had 

been identified in the application documents and supporting evidence, including the submitted Landscape 

and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA). 

 

In response, clarification was sought from the applicant who provided the following: 

 

“In response to the Parish Council’s specific queries around the accuracy of submitted building heights and 

AOD ‘discrepancies’ within the LVIA, we have re-visited the assessment and the related site survey 

records. This has confirmed that existing site levels vary, approximately ranging between 8.00m AOD and 

9.00m AOD. The highest existing level is 10.10m AOD falling to the lowest level of 7.29m AOD12. 

 

In terms of the proposed finished floor levels, whilst these were not fixed at the time of the assessment, 

design work was progressing on the basis of being in the range of between 8.20 and 8.30m. In order to 

allow for some lea way and a worst-case scenario, for the purposes of the LVIA assessment, a maximum 

of 9.00m AOD was assumed. 

 

The proposed building will have a top of ridge height of 40.475m. On an assumed FFL of 9.00m AOD, this 

would put the top of the building at an assumed 49.475m AOD. In comparison with the height of the silos, 

including the gantry structures above the silos, which have been surveyed at heights of 59.75m AOD and 

55.35m AOD respectively, the new building will be lower. 

 

Even with a hypothetical “worst case” scenario of a 41m high building on a 10.5m AOD FFL, this would put 

the top of the new building at 51.50m AOD. This would still be 3.85m below the height of the lowest silo 

and 8.25m lower than the highest.  

                                                           
12 Members should note that AOD means ‘Above Ordnance Datum’. This is a data point taken from a location elsewhere which allows for 
relevant items to be measured in comparison to that reference point. For example, this allows for accurate comparisons between buildings that 
might be located close together to be drawn, rather than working from a height above ground level where those levels might vary. 

Page 42



 

 

We can confirm that the service yard will be lower than the FFL and that the dock levellers will be lower 

still, in order to allow HGVs to back up, level with the FFL for loading purposes.” 

 

The applicant submits that the relevant measurements and LVIA work has been undertaken by a suitably-

qualified and reputable consultancy (Barry Chinn Associates). Officers have confirmed with the Council’s 

own appointed consultant (Place Services) that the details presented provide an adequate reflection of the 

proposal and its visual impacts. Place Services have confirmed that they are satisfied with the information 

that has been provided and the findings of the LVIA submitted. 

 

********** 

 

The NPPF states that the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside should be recognised in 

decision-taking. Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy requires development proposals to protect the landscape 

of the District. In addition to the requirements of Policy CS8, Policy CS14 also seeks to protect and enhance 

existing green infrastructure and states that on larger sites it will be central to the character and layout of 

the development. 

 

Policy CR04 specifically relates to Special Landscape Areas (SLA). This is a local, non-statutory 

designation used to categorise sensitive landscapes. The policy states that: 

 

“Development proposals in Special Landscape Areas will only be permitted where they: 

• maintain or enhance the special landscape qualities of the area, identified in the relevant landscape 

appraisal; and 

• are designed and sited so as to harmonise with the landscape setting.” 

 

Further, Policy CS8 requires applications be assessed with regard to: 

 

“Retention of the natural area known as the island site (a separate 16 hectares approximately) and existing 

landscape tracts, together with proposals for further measures.” 

 

The site is generally blank and featureless; the wider land parcel within which it sits incorporates a mix of 

vegetation along its boundaries and features a number of mature trees and other scrub/shrub. Areas of 

hardstanding and remaining features associated with the former sugar factory lie immediately to the east, 

however within the same wider land parcel as allocated under Policy CS8. 

 

No part of the application site falls within the SLA and no development is proposed to take place within that 

designated area. On that basis, Policy CR04, in strict terms, is not engaged.13 Nevertheless, the impact of 

development upon its landscape setting and, in this instance the adjacent SLA, requires careful treatment 

in light of Policy CS15 and national planning policy. 

 

Notwithstanding the physically constrained nature of the site – it is not considered to present itself as being 

‘open’ countryside – it is inevitable that developing the land will pose an impact upon the character of the 

site and the local area, where it falls within the wider valley landscape and SLA designation.  

 

                                                           
13 This follows the reasoning set out by the Court of Appeal in relation to Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Paragraphs 115 & 116 of the 
NPPF; see Cherkley Campaign Ltd, R (on the application of) v Mole Valley District Council & Anor [2014] EWCA Civ 567. 

Page 43



 

 

However, the key question, acknowledging the planning policy context, is whether the visual impact of the 

development can be reasonably assimilated or mitigated as it relates to the wider landscape setting and 

public amenity (which in many cases will accord with private views afforded to nearby residents south of 

the river and to the west of the A14). 

 

In that respect, the LVIA has considered the impacts of the development from a number of previously 

agreed public viewpoints; those considered to be most sensitive to visual change. The LVIA has been 

based on worst-case scenarios (see commentary in respect of FFL and AOD measurements above) and 

compiled in accordance with best-practice guidelines14. As noted above, its findings have been accepted 

by the Council’s appointed landscape consultant. The conclusions of the LVIA are summarised as follows: 

 

• Landscape effects would be contained, and localised. 

• There are other visual detractors (the A14, electricity pylons) within the immediate study area and 

setting. 

• The effect on the SLA is minimal, confined to the boundary with Sproughton and the River Gipping. 

• There would be no discernible influence over the SLA as a whole. 

• The greatest impacts are shown to occur within a 1.5km radius; the effects would be long-term and 

irreversible. 

• Submitted landscaping scheme would provide amenity at ground level, however its wider effects 

would be limited. 

• Adverse impacts across the sensitive location would range from ‘minor’ to ‘moderate’15. 

• It is envisaged that proposals relating to the wider site would provide further opportunities for lower-

level screening. 

 

The adverse impacts across the six viewpoints, categorised as ‘highly sensitive’, are summarised as follows 

for ‘Year 0’ i.e. completion of the development: 

 

1) Bramford Way Recreation Ground – Minor/Moderate Adverse; 

2) Bramford Road adj. Spanner Way – Minor Adverse; 

3) Jovian Way junct. with Europa Way – Minor Adverse; 

4) Ventris Way with Collinsons – Moderate Adverse; 

5) PROW near Spring Vale Farm – Moderate Adverse; 

6) Gipping Way, Sproughton – Moderate Adverse. 

 

After 15 years, the LVIA does not identify any change from the above, other than the viewpoint of Jovian 

Way changing from ‘Minor Adverse’ to ‘Negligible’ in light of a likely period of settling and a degree of 

assimilation into the landscape. Officers have, however, favoured to consider the ‘Year 0’ assessment as 

a worst-case basis. 

 

  

                                                           
14 Landscape Institute (2013) Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (GLVIA3). 
15 Importance of effect ranges from: Negligible, Minor, Moderate, and Major. 

Page 44



 

 

Comments relating to an assumption of greater landscaping provision around the site is noted and it is 

considered that the landscaping proposed under the infrastructure application (also recommended for 

approval) would assist in softening the development to a degree (including further strategic landscaping 

that might be secured in relation to the wider site allocation); however, officers have nevertheless adopted 

a cautious approach in considering the impacts of the development on its own merits. In any event, due to 

the scale of the development, such provisions would pose only limited mitigation. Nevertheless, having 

regard for the submission of a detailed landscape strategy that provides for landscaping around the 

perimeter of the application site and its public frontage, officers accept that adequate effort has been made 

to mitigate the urbanised aspects of the development at a ground-amenity level and sufficient green 

infrastructure has been introduced in light of the site area and commercial needs that have been evidenced. 

 

The building would be of a steel, portal-framed construction, with metal wall and roof cladding. The 

proposed design incorporates a dark grey plinth of vertical profiled cladding, with solid white bands of 

microrib cladding above. The purpose of that elevational treatment is to minimise the perceived heights of 

the buildings against the background skyline; which is a typical approach for buildings of the kind proposed. 

This is endorsed by officers in this instance, taking into account the cogent rationale provided in the 

submitted Design and Access Statement, and the comments of the Council’s appointed landscape 

consultant. The design of the development is in all respects considered acceptable, notwithstanding the 

wider visual impacts due to its scale and form which has been dictated by operational needs. 

 

Conclusion 

 

In light of the above, the proposal is considered to pose harm upon the landscape, public amenity and the 

character and appearance of the area, albeit within a localised context. This is due to the visual impact of 

the development, proximity to sensitive receptors, and its long-term and irreversible duration. Careful 

treatment of external facing materials would assist with limiting prominence but ultimately would not mask 

the localised impact of the proposal. The harm identified, which has been agreed by the Council’s appointed 

consultant, would be at the more adverse end of the spectrum of importance, being ‘Moderate Adverse’. It 

would be more adverse than ‘Minor Adverse’ but less adverse than ‘Major Adverse’. The tension that this 

therefore poses in light of local and national planning policy is considered within the planning balance at 

the conclusion of this report, alongside appropriate consideration of complaints that the development would 

also impinge upon private views and reduce local property values. 

********** 

Acknowledging Policy CS8, important landscape areas within the site would not be physically affected by 

the development, which includes the ‘island site’. As this limb of the policy would not be prejudiced, the 

development would remain in accordance with the lead policy in that respect. 

 

Residential Amenity 

 

It is a widely-held and accepted principle that the planning system operates to control private development 

in the public interest and not in the private interest. Examples of public-interest considerations include 

standards of privacy, adequate lighting, and freedom from the nuisance of emissions. The preservation or 

‘right’ to a view across another party’s land is a matter of private interest that the planning system is not 

intended to protect. Nor does visibility automatically equate to harm.    

 

  

Page 45



 

 

One of the core planning principles within paragraph 17 of the NPPF is that local planning authorities should 

always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future 

occupants of land and buildings, and this is also required by policy CN01 of the Local Plan. Policy EN22 of 

the Local Plan relates to lighting and aims to minimise light spill and pollution to safeguard residential 

amenity, as well as the character of an area and highway safety. Policy CS8 is clear that applications are 

expected to pose “no material adverse impacts on residential amenity”. 

 

As such, and in respect of the nature of the application submitted, consideration needs to be given as to 

whether the proposal would be likely to give rise to any material harm to the amenity of neighbouring 

residential occupants, by reason of impacts including loss of light, outlook16, or other potential impacts 

associated with the operation of the proposed development and its construction; such as emissions of 

noise, light or dust. This needs careful treatment, where officers note the significant levels of objection 

received in relation to perceived amenity impacts that might be posed by the development. 

 

In relation to the consideration of amenity impacts, the nearest residential properties are located to the 

west (over 300m from the westernmost site boundary) and the south/south-east (over 300m from the 

nearest boundary). Views between those properties and the application site are disrupted by intermediary 

features such as the A14 to the west, and heavy, mature vegetation around the river to the south and 

mature vegetation along the western boundary of the wider land allocation. These views have also, until 

recently, been affected by the presence of four high silos on the site.  It is also noted that given the proximity 

of dwellings to the west, the building has been deliberately designed so that the high-bay element is on the 

eastern side of the building with the low-bay (approximately half the height) facing Sproughton. The 

presence of the A14, the local highway network, and other development adjacent to the site contribute to 

the baseline noise levels in the environs. 

 

Loss of Light 

 

A number of comments have been received raising concern that the proposal would overshadow properties 

and/or lead to an unacceptable loss of light. Officers have considered this matter carefully and have 

consulted best-practice guidance published by the Building Research Establishment (BRE).17 

 

Taking into account the scale of the building – even accounting for an AOD height of 51.50m and 

surrounding housing as 0m, as an absolute and hypothetical worst-case scenario – its overall height would 

need to be around 6 times greater before meeting the distance between it and the nearest residential 

property (over 300m). Acknowledging that there is a degree of separation, along with topography, 

intermediary features, and the fact that all ‘affected’ properties are either south or west of the building, 

officers cannot detect any likely adverse influence on daylight afforded to those nearby receptors. All 

nearby properties would continue to receive adequate levels of sunlight and daylight, with overshadowing 

highly unlikely. 

 

The development would pose no material adverse impact in this respect. 

 

 

                                                           
16 ‘Outlook’ is differentiated from matters relating to private views, where impacts upon outlook relate to the living conditions of residents, to be 
protected in the public interest. For example, where cramped development and restricted views give rise to an overbearing sense of enclosure. 
Impact upon public views are considered elsewhere in this report. Impact upon property value is a private interest consideration and is not 
treated as relating to the amenity afforded to residents. 
17 Littlefair, P. (2011) Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: A Guide to Good Practice. Watford: BRE. 

Page 46



 

 

Noise, Light and other Emissions 

 

In respect of noise, the applicant has provided a comprehensive assessment taking into account recent 

surveys of the existing baseline noise conditions (which include emissions arising from traffic on the A14) 

and the likely noise impacts of the development at all times of the day and night, including during the 

construction period and also when the unit is expected to be operational. The methodology and findings of 

that assessment have been accepted by the Council’s Environmental Protection Officer; officers endorse 

this view. 

 

Following comments from the Parish Council, and noting that issues relating to noise were of specific 

concern to local residents, the applicant has sought to provide comfort in highlighting the following: 

 

“In respect of plant, we can confirm that there is no requirement for active cooling/heating within the main 

distribution facility. It will not be refrigerated, as all products will be non-perishable. 

 

Mechanical ventilation plant will likely only need to be required for the office element. Condenser 

compounds are shown on the submitted planning drawings, at ground floor level adjacent to the pod office 

and main office. 

 

We can also confirm that an electricity sub-station is proposed adjacent to the HGV entrance and this is 

also shown on the submitted planning drawings. A back-up generator may also be necessary, in the event 

that the power supply is interrupted. 

 

The exact specification for external plant has not yet been defined. However, the noise impact assessment 

report recommends that any static plant should be designed (location, scale and emissions) to give a rating 

level which does not exceed typical background noise levels, taking account of site operations. This 

recommendation will be followed and it is anticipated that this aspect of the development can be expected 

to be controlled via planning conditions. 

 

In response to the queries raised in relation to a low oxygen environment, we can confirm that fire protection 

for the facility will be via a standard sprinkler system. 

 

We also note the query around whether the automated operating systems, to be installed in the building, 

will generate noise. We can assure the Parish Council, that noise generated from within the building 

envelope is likely to be of negligible significance at the nearest ‘noise sensitive receptor’ which is 300m 

away and where background sound levels at this receptor are relatively high. When a comparison is drawn 

with noise measurements taken from a comparable facility at Hams Hall, Warwickshire, indications are that 

any emissions, at the nearest NSR, will be well below existing background sound levels.” 

 

Officers accept this submission and advise Members that in accordance with the advice provided by the 

Council’s EP Officer, simple planning conditions are capable of ensuring that no material adverse impacts 

to residential amenity would be likely to result from the development in respect of noise. 

 

  

Page 47



 

 

Further assessments were provided by the applicant in respect of lighting and air quality. Both matters are 

considered by officers to have been adequately approached and that the findings allow for a conclusion to 

be reached that the development, subject to conditions in relation to noise, would not give rise to material 

adverse impacts when taking into account background conditions and the siting of the development in 

relation to its surroundings. The accepted findings of the air quality report identify that impacts would be 

negligible with insignificant effects; no mitigation is therefore necessary. 

 

As typical for developments of this nature, a condition(s) to secure an acceptable construction strategy 

having regard to amenity/environmental impacts is recommended. 

 

Loss of Views, Property Values, and Outlook 

 

A significant number of objections and comments received through the consultation process have centred 

upon the visual impacts of the distribution building and consequent effects upon the living conditions of 

neighbouring residents and land/property values. As noted at the beginning of this section, (and in a 

footnote above), it is important to differentiate matters of public interest i.e. outlook, from private matters 

relating to views across other private land and property value. In respect of decision-taking, both the RTPI18 

and Government’s Planning Portal advise that loss of views and property values are not material planning 

considerations. 

 

The PPG defines material planning considerations as follows: 

 

“A material planning consideration is one which is relevant to making the planning decision in question (eg 

whether to grant or refuse an application for planning permission). 

 

The scope of what can constitute a material consideration is very wide and so the courts often do not 

indicate what cannot be a material consideration. However, in general they have taken the view that 

planning is concerned with land use in the public interest, so that the protection of purely private interests 

such as the impact of a development on the value of a neighbouring property or loss of private rights to 

light could not be material considerations.19” 

 

Taking this into account, officers would nevertheless exercise caution in blindly following that guidance, in 

stating that the significant views presented from residents in relation to a loss of view or property value are 

not material to the decision to be taken; materiality might extend to taking into account private interests as 

well as public ones, despite the intention of the planning system to operate in the public interest. 

Specifically, in a case involving private interest, the question to be asked is whether that matter requires 

protection in the public interest. On that basis it is right that Members bear this in mind, especially given 

that so many members of the public have raised those matters as an issue, along with re-iterating that a 

positive treatment against Policy CS8 requires there to be “no material adverse impacts on residential 

amenity”. 

 

  

                                                           
18 Planning Aid, Material Planning Considerations. Available at: http://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/686895/Material-Planning-Considerations.pdf  
19 Paragraph: 008 Reference ID: 21b-008-20140306. 

Page 48

http://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/686895/Material-Planning-Considerations.pdf


 

 

Having regard for the above, officers have considered the relationship between the proposal and 

neighbouring properties carefully. Adopting worst-case principles (noting the disagreement between parties 

in respect of the height of the building), it is not disputed that the building would be highly conspicuous to 

nearby residents, especially those to the west of the site even with the high-bay element being oriented 

away from them. However, due to the degree of separation between the building and receptors, officers 

cannot conclude that the outlook from affected properties would be undermined to the extent that the 

development would pose any undue sense of enclosure; nor would it be so oppressive or overwhelming 

that it would materially undermine the amenity afforded to affected properties.  

 

Again, it must be reiterated that ‘outlook’ is different to a ‘view’. Officers do not suggest to Members that 

the current views afforded to certain residents would be impinged by the development; because they would 

be. Rather, the outlook afforded to properties would not suffer material adverse impact, within the wording 

of Policy CS8; residents would not be enclosed by the development and adequate lighting, including access 

to skylight, would remain. 

 

In consideration of the specific circumstances of this application and noting that the impacts of the 

development would only give rise to detriment of private interests in respect of residential amenity (private 

views and a perception that nearby property values would decrease), officers do not afford any materiality 

or weighting to those considerations. In light of the above, the application is considered acceptable and 

would accord with the requirements of the Development Plan and Policy CS8 in respect of residential 

amenity. 

 

********** 

 

Comments in relation to private views and property values do have wider relevance, however, as they 

relate to the impacts of the development upon the public amenities of the area. Those public interest 

matters are considered in the preceding section and the planning balance at the conclusion to this report. 

 

 

Resilience to Climate Change: Flood Risk, Drainage and Building Performance 

 

Adaption to, and resilience against, climate change is a key consideration of sustainable development in 

the NPPF. Policy CS8 notwithstanding (which requires an assessment of flood risk), this is echoed 

throughout the Core Strategy, primarily through Policies CS1, CS12 and CS15, which require that 

development should be designed to a high sustainable development standard. 

 

Flood Risk and Drainage 

 

An issue when considering ‘resilience’ is whether the development has been designed to adapt to issues 

presented by climate change, such as an increased risk of flooding from heavy rain. The site wholly falls 

within Flood Zone 1, where there is a very low probability (less than 1 in 1000 annually) of river or sea 

(fluvial) flooding. The existing nature of the land also means that there is presently considered to be a low 

risk of surface water (pluvial) flooding. Nevertheless, the scale and nature of the development poses 

urbanising effects that would undoubtedly impact upon the way that the land copes with drainage and run-

off. The NPPF requires that when determining planning applications, local planning authorities should 

ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Concerns in relation to flood risk were a key part of local 

comment. 

Page 49



 

 

 

In a Written Ministerial Statement dated 18th December 2014, the Secretary of State for Local Communities 

and Local Government made it clear that the Government’s expectation is that sustainable drainage 

systems will be provided in new developments wherever this is appropriate. The PPG underlines this by 

stating that on major developments it is expected that SuDS for the management of surface water run-off 

are put in place, unless demonstrated to be inappropriate.20 Further, local planning authorities should 

consult the relevant Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) (in this instance, Suffolk County Council) on the 

management of surface water. 

 

To support the proposal, and acknowledging the aforementioned guidance and policy direction, a detailed 

flood risk and drainage assessment has been submitted by the applicant; this has been accepted by the 

LLFA. The submitted detail proposes a suitable surface water drainage strategy (based on the site layout) 

to drain the site and reduce flood risk overall, based on SuDS principles and evidenced by clear drainage 

calculations. 

 

Consequently, the Lead Local Flood Authority has raised no objection to the scheme and is content that 

based on the evidence provided and assumptions made, a viable SuDS strategy is securable to support 

the development, and that the development would not lead to an increased flood risk off-site. Planning 

conditions imposed upon the outline planning permission would ensure that this is the case. 

 

Members are advised, however, that the suitability of the drainage approach submitted relies upon actions 

on land outside of the application site area, albeit in accordance with the details submitted within the related 

infrastructure application (also recommended for approval by officers). On that basis, conditions are 

required to ensure that the two developments work together in the event that both applications are 

approved, or that such works are carried out before this proposal progress beyond slab level. 

 

Building Performance 

 

Policy CS12 states that all new non-residential developments will be expected to achieve, as a minimum, 

the BREEAM ‘Excellent’ standard or equivalent. As an expectation, it is not then unacceptable per se, for 

development not to meet that target; however, this does not obviate the need for commercial developments 

to make an acceptable case as to why that target cannot be met if that is the case. Policy CS13 requires 

that all new development minimise dependence on fossil fuels and make the fullest contribution to the 

mitigation of climate change, through adopting a sustainable approach to energy use. Specifically, 

development within the Strategic Land Allocations will be required to use on-site renewable, decentralised, 

or low carbon energy sources with the aim of achieving a 10% reduction in the predicted carbon dioxide 

emissions of the development. 

 

Following feedback to the applicant, an amplified sustainability assessment has been provided which has 

committed to the following measures: 

 

• Reduction in Carbon Dioxide (CO2) emissions over Part L 2013 Building Regulations Standards by 

10.0% through improved envelope and services provision and the use of renewable technologies. 

• 530m2 of solar photovoltaic panels. 

• Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) A-rating. 

                                                           
20 Paragraph: 079 Reference ID: 7-079-20150415 

Page 50



 

 

• Air tightness of 2.5m3/m2/hr @ 50Pa compared to Part L Building Regulations standard of 

10m3/m2/hr @ 50Pa and hence represents an improvement of 75%. 

• LED lighting throughout with absence/presence detection and daylight sensors. 

• LED external lighting throughout. 

• High efficiency hybrid heat recovery ventilation with automatic control strategy to the office spaces. 

• Good daylighting provision through the use of rooflights to promote occupant well-being and to 

mitigate the use of artificial lighting. 

• Use of water saving and monitoring/control devices to minimise water consumption including low 

flow rate showers, low flow dual flush WC’s and flow restrictors on taps. 

• Use of A and A+ rated construction materials, wherever possible, with associated low Embodied 

Carbon impact (Green Guide to Specification). 

• Development of a Green Travel Plan with links to improved pedestrian and cycle pathways planned 

for the area. 

• Electric vehicle (EV) charging infrastructure and conveniently located EV charging stations. 

• Dedicated and convenient cycle storage and suitable changing/shower facilities. 

• Inclusion of attenuation/protection measures to minimise watercourse pollution including an existing 

attenuation pond. 

• Use of a Brownfield site in an accessible location. 

• Enhancement of the site’s bio-diversity through sympathetic planting and landscaping. 

• Commitment to sign up to the Considerate Constructors Scheme (CCS) and manage construction 

site impacts in a responsible manner. 

• BREEAM rating of ‘Very Good’21. 

 

The applicant has contended that the specific nature of the building and the commercial requirements of 

the operator has meant that, whilst it would not be possible to commit to achieve a BREEAM  ‘excellent’ 

rating, a minimum ‘Very Good’ rating will be secured and that this will be complemented with an ongoing 

commitment to achieving a wide range of sustainable outcomes in relation to matters such as travel habits, 

recycling, drainage and energy saving technologies. In light of the case presented, which can be secured 

through planning condition(s), officers are satisfied that the applicant would be making an adequate 

contribution to sustainable best practice in light of Policies CS12 and CS13. Nevertheless, adopting a 

cautious stance, the tension with Policy CS12 will be weighted accordingly in the planning balance. 

 

Ecology and Biodiversity 

 

In assessing this application due regard has been given to the provisions of the Natural Environment and 

Rural Communities Act, 2006, is so far as it is applicable to the proposal and the provisions of Conservation 

of Habitats and Species Regulations, 2010 in relation to protected species. The protection of ecology is 

both a core principle of the NPPF and Core Strategy. Policy CS15, in particular, requires new development 

to safeguard ecology and Policy CS8 seeks the “protection of the biodiversity of the locality and any 

opportunities for enhancement.” 

 

Officers consider that there is sufficient ecological information available to understand the impacts of 

development; the likely impacts of development have been adequately surveyed and assessed, particularly 

relating to Priority Habitats and Protected and Priority Species.  

                                                           
21 An achievement of ‘Very Good’ places the development within the top 25% of UK new non-domestic buildings. 

Page 51



 

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Development Plan, noting policies CS8 and CS15, and the wider 

ecological objectives enshrined within the NPPF, officers consider that it is reasonable and necessary to 

secure that the applicant implement, in full, the suite of recommendations identified within their submitted 

Ecological Assessment. In accordance with the views of the Council’s appointed Ecologist, Officers also 

acknowledge the need for a suite of additional planning conditions, in the interests of safeguarding and 

enhancing biodiversity. 

 

On that basis, the application is considered favourably in respect of impacts upon ecology and biodiversity. 

 

Land Contamination 

 

The applicant has submitted assessments that provide an evidenced baseline of the existing contaminative 

risks associated with the development of the site and demonstrate how these can be adequately managed. 

It is considered that the details submitted are sufficient to identify that there would be no unacceptable risks 

from contamination, subject to standard conditions to ensure the safe development and future occupancy 

of the site. As such, the proposal is considered to comply with Policy CS15 insofar as it relates to land 

contamination, and the NPPF. 

 

Economic Impacts 

 

In addition to the in-principle support of commercial developments presented through the land allocation of 

Policy CS8 and the storage and distribution planning policy EM08, Policies CS1, CS3, CS15 and CS16 of 

the Core Strategy support the significance of safeguarding and enhancing the District’s economy. Those 

policies are broadly consistent with the aims of Section 3 of the NPPF which seeks to support economic 

growth as a dimension of sustainability. In particular, Paragraph 19 requires plan-makers and decision-

takers to place “significant weight... on the need to support economic growth through the planning system”. 

 

Notwithstanding the preceding assessment and the Development Plan, there is an inherent imperative to 

give support to commercial ventures which would provide jobs and give great input into the economy. 

Alongside this the NPPF, at Paragraph 21, is clear that investment in business should not be over-burdened 

by the combined requirements of planning policy expectations; efforts should be made to recognise and 

address any barriers to investment. 

 

Further to Paragraph 19 of the NPPF, the Government is committed to ensuring that the planning system 

does everything it can to support sustainable economic growth. Building upon this commitment, an 

additional consideration material to this proposal is that the application site now holds Enterprise Zone 

status; the purpose of which, is to fast-track development of land allocated for employment through 

measures, including: 

 

• making it more attractive for local authorities to support development, via business rates retention 

• making it more attractive to future business occupiers by offering them business rates relief (funded 

by central government) 

• ensuring access to superfast broadband is available for all occupiers 

• prioritising funding to EZ sites to secure delivery of employment and economic growth. 

 

  

Page 52



 

 

Sproughton Enterprise Park is one of 10 sites within the New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership’s (LEP) 

Space to Innovate Enterprise Zone. The LEP, who are working jointly with the local councils in the area, 

have set out a priority to ensure that ‘New Anglia’ is a place where: high-growth businesses with aspirations 

choose to be, and; existing businesses can grow. There is a need to drive business growth and productivity 

by increasing levels of investment. It is recognised that ports and logistics are one of nine key sectors for 

the LEP area. Logistics is characterised as a strong sector that makes an important contribution to the 

economy and has substantial growth potential. It has further been identified that there is significant 

opportunity for such growth in Ipswich and the surrounding area. The early delivery of this ‘first’ site within 

the strategic allocation can be expected to foster confidence in commercial markets and provide testament 

to its ability to respond to business needs and to attract further inward investment.   

 

The Suffolk Growth Strategy, which the Babergh District Council has pledged commitment towards, 

outlines that Suffolk’s future prosperity depends upon business growth and the creation of added economic 

value. That document is not part of the statutory development plan. However, it is wholly aligned with the 

vision of the New Anglia LEP and the direction of central Government. 

 

The planning application before Members has been submitted on behalf of LDH (La Doria) who are a major 

UK distributor of food products imported from around the world and who have identified a need to relocate 

from their present location at the port of Felixstowe. The development would initially accommodate up to 

120 members of staff, with potential for that number to increase over time where the development has been 

designed to allow for future growth.  

 

The development has been designed in-line with industry standards to meet the needs of the end user and 

to enhance the efficiency of the company’s current supply and distribution network, which will enable its 

future growth and expansion. It utilises the latest technology in order to increase efficiency and provide for 

an up-skilled workforce. The applicant is not currently located in the District, and as such the proposed 

development represents an inward investment to the local area. 

 

The economic benefits in allowing development to proceed in light of this application are now considered, 

as follows: 

 

Construction Phase 

 

1. 75 no. FTE temporary (gross) jobs directly from construction over the 2-year build period; 

2. 55 no. direct, indirect and induced net additional FTE jobs across Babergh and Ipswich, and; 

3. Additional £7.8 (GVA) million uplift in productivity within the local economy throughout the 

construction phase. 

 

Operations 

 

1. Direct jobs provision, indicated to be at least 120 no. FTE at the start of operations; 

2. Scope for job growth and capacity planned within the site to allow this to occur; 

3. Potential to support local workers over time; 

4. £5.2 million (net) additional contribution to economic productivity (GVA) within the economy each 

year once fully operational; 

5. Support for a wide variety of types of jobs across a range of occupations and skills levels; 

6. Potential for training and development opportunities, up-skilling, and; 

Page 53



 

 

7. £4.5 million uplift in wage expenditure per annum from jobs supported on site, in addition to an 

annual net additional indirect wage expenditure effect of circa £500,000 locally (supporting trade in 

shops and services locally). 

 

Officers consider the economic case presented by the applicant to be considerable and compelling, where 

the proposed development would make a significant socio-economic contribution to the District and 

beyond. Furthermore, the benefits identified would meet with the expectations set out by local and national 

planning policy, along with non-statutory progress toward supporting economic growth locally and in 

relation to identified enterprise sites. 

 

The benefits identified will be considered within the planning balance and conclusion, below. 

 
 

PART FOUR – CONCLUSION  
 

 
Planning Balance and Conclusion 

 

This application brings about a number of issues which require careful attention in reaching a decision 

upon this proposal. What follows, therefore, is a balancing of those issues in light of the assessment carried 

out within the preceding sections and paragraphs of this report. 

 

At the heart of the balancing exercise to be undertaken by decision takers is Section 38(6) of the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004; which requires that, if regard is to be had to the development plan for 

the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts, determination must be made in 

accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

Core Strategy Policy CS8 specifically relates to the Strategic Employment Land Allocation within which the 

application site falls. In light of this, it is acknowledged that certain aspects of the Development Plan may 

well support the proposal, notwithstanding Policy CS8, and that other considerations might pull in a different 

direction; it is natural that not every development will accord with every policy within a development plan. 

Officers have nevertheless undertaken to review the merits of this proposal framed against the entirety of 

the Development Plan, comprising the Core Strategy (2014) and the Local Plan (2006). After careful 

assessment, your officers consider that the application poses limited tension with Policy CS8, conflict with 

Policy CS12, and limited conflict with Policy CS15; however, it nevertheless meets the wider thrust of the 

suite of planning policies that comprise the Development Plan, when considering the proposed 

development and its likely impacts and effects: 

 

Applications are expected to comply with CS15 in order to satisfy CS8 and in this respect the adverse 

impact to the landscape, albeit localised, is afforded a moderate weighting where the development would 

conflict with that Policy. A moderate, negative weighting is afforded because the adverse impacts would 

not be ‘Major’ within understood and accepted guidelines and would be localised. They are nevertheless 

of such importance that they warrant an appropriate weighting in the planning balance. 

 

  

Page 54



 

 

Likewise, conflict with Policy CS12 has been identified because the development would not achieve a 

BREEAM ‘excellent’ rating. This consideration is afforded a limited weighting because the conflict with that 

policy is limited; the applicant has nevertheless committed to a range of sustainable measures, provided 

adequate justification for not meeting the requisite expectation, and the development would still achieve 

BREEAM ‘very good’ as well as conforming to Policy CS13. 

 

In respect of the impact upon private views and impacts upon property values, as purely private interest 

matters officers afford those considerations no weighting despite perceived significance and materiality. 

Officers have been careful to state that such matters are not material in the context of Policy CS8; however, 

even adopting a cautious approach and acknowledging them as “material adverse impacts on residential 

amenity” this would not affect the weighting attributed to the tension already identified with that Policy. The 

public interest matters concerned – which are nevertheless linked to the private issues highlighted i.e. the 

impact of the proposal upon the visual amenities of the area – are, however, are afforded a commensurate 

weighting as noted above. 

 

Conversely, and noting that the application has raised no objections of a technical nature, the benefits that 

would accrue in allowing development to proceed are considerable. The socio-economic benefits that have 

been identified are afforded a substantial positive weighting. The application would, in locational and use 

terms, meet with the policy expectations of Policies CS8 and EM08. The application would also satisfy 

CS15, among other policies, in relation to its contribution to the economy, the safeguarding of ecology, the 

preservation of heritage, the support of green travel planning, and ensuring that flood risk is adequately 

managed. The application would further satisfy the Development Plan in respect of its impact upon the 

local and strategic highway network. The development would also safeguard residential amenity in respect 

of impacts upon light, outlook, and emissions associated with construction and occupier operations. 

 

Officers accept the justification provided by the applicant for any harm that has been identified and, given 

its clear operational requirements, there is significant risk of the applicant seeking alternative sites in the 

event that they are compelled to amend the scheme to reduce its scale; the consequence would be an 

operation that would be less efficient, and which would naturally affect the viability of the proposal. Likewise, 

the delivery timetable of the applicant is tight and requires immediate attention. Officers have given further 

weight to the presentation of an application which is ‘ready to proceed’ and yet still accords with, and would 

not prejudice, comprehensive approaches to the development of the wider land allocation. 

 

In light of the above, officers consider any harm posed to be at worst moderate (and in that sense, other 

than achieving the status of BREEAM ‘very good’ rather than ‘excellent’, would be limited only to visual 

and landscape impacts, which are themselves localised), and nevertheless justified in light of the evidence 

submitted. On that basis, and noting the considerable benefits presented, officers consider that the benefits 

identified would outweigh any harm posed, and that the development would meet the wider thrust of the 

Development Plan. As such, and as supported by appropriate evidence, the proposed development is 

considered to demonstrate clear sustainable credentials in planning terms and, therefore, under Paragraph 

19 of NPPF the planning system should be doing ‘everything it can’ to support it. Where the NPPF (along 

with the development plan) provide a clear momentum to securing development built upon such sustainable 

principles, Members are recommended to approve the application without delay. 

 

Notwithstanding the Development Plan, the proposed development is nevertheless considered to align with 

the planning policies contained within the NPPF when taken as a whole and that the adverse impacts 

identified would not significantly or demonstrably outweigh the benefits of allowing development to proceed. 

Page 55



 

 

Separately the application is supported by the Council’s economic development team and satisfies the 

aspirations of the Suffolk Growth Strategy and LEP/Enterprise Zone context. Officers are acutely aware of 

the direction presented through the NPPF, which states that investment in business should not be over-

burdened by the combined requirements of planning policy expectations; efforts should be made to 

recognise and address any barriers to investment. Members have before them an application from a named 

occupier, posing substantial economic benefits, and which has been presented with a view to rapid 

implementation and delivery. 

 

In the absence of any justifiable or demonstrable material consideration indicating otherwise, it is 

considered that the proposals are therefore acceptable in planning terms and that there are no material 

considerations which would give rise to unacceptable harm. 

 

A positive recommendation to Members is therefore given below. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

That planning permission be granted subject to conditions including: 

 

• Standard time limit for implementation; 

• Development to be in accordance with approved plans; 

• As recommended by the LHA; 

• As recommended by the LLFA; 

• Noise/As recommended by Environmental Protection officers; 

• Ecological mitigation; 

• Land remediation as necessary; 

• Construction/environmental management; 

• Lighting (safeguarding ecology, biodiversity, and residential amenity); 

• Landscape management. 

• Control of external facing materials. 

Page 56



Application No: DC/17/06235 

Parish: Sproughton 

Location: Former Sugar Beet Factory, Sproughton Road 

 

 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Committee Report   

Ward: Sudbury South.   

Ward Member/s: Cllr Simon Barrett. Cllr Luke Cresswell. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION – GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION, GRANT LISTED BUILDING 

CONSENT 

 

 

Description of Development 

DC/18/00717 - Planning Application - Erection of new gallery building (following demolition of the Labour 

Exchange); Rearrangement and extension of the Weavers Lane cottages and print workshop. Alterations 

to improve accessibility within Gainsborough House and improved accessibility into the site. 

 

DC/18/00718 - Erection of new gallery building (following demolition of the Labour Exchange); 

Rearrangement and extension of the Weavers Lane cottages and print workshop. Alterations to improve 

accessibility within Gainsborough House and improved accessibility into the site. 

Location 

Gainsborough House, 46 Gainsborough Street, Sudbury, Suffolk CO10 2EU  

 

Parish: Sudbury   

Site Area: 1410 m2 

Conservation Area: Sudbury 

Listed Building: Affects Setting of Grade I 

 
Received: 16/02/2018 

Expiry Date: 16/04/2018 

 

 

Application Type: FUL - Full Planning Application 

Development Type: Minor  

 

Applicant: Gainsborough's House 

Agent: Mr Angus Goodwin 

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 
The application is referred to committee for the following reason: 
 
The Corporate Manager – Growth and Sustainable Planning considers the application to be of a 
controversial nature. 
 
 

Item No: 3 Reference: DC/18/00717 & DC/18/00718 
Case Officer: Samantha Summers 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5c



 

 

 
 

PART TWO – APPLICATION BACKGROUND  
 

 

History 

 

The planning history relevant to the application site is listed below.  A detailed assessment of the 

planning history including any material Planning Appeals will be carried out as needed in Part Three: 

  
 

 

DC/17/05838 Application for Listed Building Consent- Repairs to 
floor joists/fixings to first and second floors;  
Inspection and removal of external render and make 
repairs/damp proof where necessary and re-paint. 

 
Granted 

02/02/2018 

 

B/07/00808 Application for Listed Building Consent - Retention of 
roller shutter to rear door. 

 
Granted 

20/08/2007 

 

B/06/01269 Application for Listed Building Consent - Erection of 
glazed canopy (as amended by certificate dated 
25/08/06 and drawing dated 18/09/06). 

 
Granted 

20/09/2006 

 

B/06/01268 Erection of glazed canopy (as amended by certificate 
dated 25/08/06 and drawing dated 18/09/06). 

 
Granted 

20/09/2006 

 

B/04/02128 Application for Advertisement Consent - Erection of 
"Gainsborough House" sign and hanging sign to 1-2 
Weavers Lane. 

 
Granted 

24/01/2005 

 

B/04/00440 Erection of glazed canopy. 
 

Withdrawn 

08/06/2006 

 

B/04/00439 Application for Listed Building Consent - Alterations 
to brick work on front elevation; insertion of 1 no. 
door on rear elevation; internal alterations (as 
amended by details dated 26/06/04). 

 
Granted 

12/08/2004 

 

B/97/00508 APPLICATION FOR LISTED BUILDING CONSENT - 
REMOVAL OF MEMORIAL PLAQUE AND 
REPOSITIONING OF PLAQUE ON EAST SIDE OF 
WEST GARDEN WALL 

 
Granted 

18/09/1997 

 

B/97/00164 GRANT APPLICATION - HISTORIC BUILDING 
GRANT BALLINGDON STREET TO 
GAINSBOROUGH STREET 

 
 

 

 

B/91/01208 INSERTION OF DORMER WINDOW 
 

Granted 

20/11/1991 

 

B/91/01169 APPLICATION FOR LISTED BUILDING CONSENT - 
INSERTION OF DORMER WINDOW AND 
INTERNAL ALTERATIONS 

 
Granted 

04/12/1991 

 

B/91/00161 APPLICATION FOR LISTED BUILDING CONSENT - 
ERECTION OF SLATE PLAQUE ON FRONT 
ELEVATION 

 
Granted 

13/03/1991 

 

Page 60



 

 

B/89/00881 APPLICATION FOR LISTED BUILDING CONSENT - 
INTERNAL ALTERATIONS TO TOILET 
ACCOMMODATION 

 
Granted 

27/11/1989 

 

B/86/80192 APPLICATION FOR LISTED BUILDING CONSENT - 
2 FLAGPOLES CANTILEVERED OUT FROM WALL 
AND 2 NON-ILLUMINATED INFORMATION 
BOARDS (AS AMENDED BY DRAWING RECEIVED 
ON 07/05/87) 

 
Granted 

01/06/1987 

 

B/86/70043 APPLICATION FOR ADVERTISEMENT CONSENT- 
2 NON-ILLUMINATED INFORMATION PANELS (AS 
AMENDED BY DRAWING RECEIVED ON 07/05/87) 

 
Granted 

07/05/1987 

 

B/86/70042 APPLICATION FOR ADVERTISEMENT CONSENT - 
2 FLAGPOLES CANTILEVERED OUT FROM WALL 
(AS AMENDED BY DRAWING RECEIVED ON 
07/05/87) 

 
Granted 

08/05/1987 

 

 

All Policies Identified As Relevant 

 

The proposal has been assessed with regard to adopted development plan policies, the National Planning 

Policy Framework and all other material considerations. Highlighted local and national policies are listed 

below.  Detailed assessment of policies in relation to the recommendation and issues highlighted in this 

case will be carried out within the assessment: 

 
Summary of Policies 
 
The following development plan policies are of particular relevance in the determination of this 
application: 
 
CN01 - Design Standards 
CN06 - Listed Buildings - Alteration/Ext/COU 
CN08 - Development in/near conservation areas 
TP15 - Parking Standards - New Development 
CS01 - Applying the presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development in Babergh 
CS03 - Strategy for Growth and Development 
CS15 - Implementing Sustainable Development in Babergh 
CS16 - Town, Village and Local Centres 
 

Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions and any member site visit 

 

Member undertook an inspection of the site and its surroundings on the 28th March 2018. 

 

Details of any Pre-Application Advice 

 

Extensive pre-application advice has taken place with the Museum undertaking comprehensive public 

engagement, with plans being on display within the museum for some months.  Engagement with all Ward 

Members for Sudbury and the Sudbury Town Council has also taken place.  Advice from Historic England, 

the Heritage Team and your Development Management Officer have been given during the course of pre-

application.  Changes to the design and height of the extension have been made following this advice. 

 

  

Page 61



 

 

 
Consultations and Representations 
 
During the course of the application Consultation and Representations from third parties have been 
received. These are summarised below.  All comments received have been taken into account when 
reaching the conclusion and recommendation set out within this report. 
 
A: Summary of Consultations 
 
Sudbury Town Council 
Recommend - approval - however need to ensure a site construction management plan is agreed which 
takes into account local residents access needs. Also identify any need for mitigation of vibration from 
piling.  Concerns from the Sudbury Society regarding the lack of evidence from an accessibility consultant 
were also noted. 
 
Heritage Team 
The Heritage Team does not object to the proposed development as it will cause no harm to the significance 
of the listed building, and it will enhance the character and appearance of this part of the Conservation 
Area.  Conditions required to secure detailing. 
 
Historic England 
Historic England has no objection to the application on heritage grounds. We consider that the application 
meets the requirements of the NPPF, in particular paragraph numbers 6, 7 and 14. If the Council is minded 
to grant consent we would recommend conditions are applied to agree materials and detailing for the 
exterior of the new gallery building, extension to the existing shop, the new covered walkway and the rear 
doors to the listed house. In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of 
section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard 
to the desirability of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which they possess and section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of conservation areas. 
 
Natural England 
No comments to make on this application.  Standing advice should be followed. 
 
Suffolk Preservation Society 
Thank you for consulting the SPS on this culturally important and ambitious scheme. Having reviewed the 
proposals the Society recognises the economic benefits for Sudbury in delivering an internationally 
significant home for the Gainsborough art collection. Furthermore, the scheme will provide an enhanced 
visitor experience commensurate with the importance of the collection, which is an important cultural 
resource, locally, nationally and beyond. The SPS welcomes the investment in the Gainsborough Museum 
that will ultimately benefit the historic and architecturally rich town of Sudbury. 
 
SCC - Fire & Rescue 
No objection. 
 
SCC - Archaeological Service 
No objection.  Conditions required to secure a Written Scheme of Investigation. 
 
B: Representations 
 
No local or third party representations have been received for this scheme at the time of writing the report.  
An update will be given during the Committee Meeting of any representations received following the report 
being written. 

Page 62



 

 

 
 

PART THREE – ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION  
 

 
From an assessment of relevant planning policy and guidance, representations received, the planning 
designations and other material issues the main planning considerations considered relevant to this case 
are set out including the reason/s for the decision, any alternative options considered and rejected.   
 
1. The Site and Surroundings 
 
1.1. Gainsborough’s House is a Grade I Listed Building within the Conservation Area of Sudbury.  It is 

a handsome building of red brick fronting Gainsborough Street.  The house was the home of the 
internationally renowned painter, Thomas Gainsborough.  The building was made into a museum 
of his life and artwork and opened to the public in 1961.  Since that time the museum has increased 
in popularity and has added a print workshop and shop to the museum.  The main entrance to the 
site is through Weavers Lane which is accessed from Gainsborough Street.  The museum also 
includes a courtyard garden. 

 
1.2. The application site also includes the formal Labour Exchange building to the north of the shop and 

print workshop.  The building has not been in use for some time.  There is a small car parking area 
between the Labour Exchange and the print workshop.  Three garages are attached to the northern 
elevation of the Labour Exchange.  Babergh District Council agreed to purchase the building for the 
museum, in order to demolish it and building an extension to the museum.  Babergh Members have 
agreed to gift the building to the museum as part of this proposal. 

 
1.3. Vanners Silk Mill sits directly to the north of the site and has also gifted a small corner of their land 

to enable the site to be developed.  Vanners is a very industrial collection of buildings with a 
distinctive roofline.   

 
1.4. To the east of the site are a row of modern three storey townhouses. 
 
2. The Proposal 
 
2.1.  The proposal includes the demolition of the Labour Exchange building and three garages and 

erection of a three storey gallery building.  Some alterations to the print workshop will be required 
to enable the works.  An extension to the existing shop would provide a small café within the 
courtyard garden.  A covered walkway linking the new entrance within the gallery building to the 
museum within the Grade I listed house is also included in this application.  Th existing northern 
wall of the garden will be replaced with a traditional crinkle-crankle wall.  Alterations to make the 
museum house more accessible to disabled visitors are proposed. 

 
2.2.  The floorspace provided will be 452 square metres. 
 
2.3.  No parking is included with this proposal.  The Labour Exchange has three garages and a small car 

parking area associated with it.  However, the museum itself does not have car parking available 
for visitors or staff.  The proposed gallery building would use all of the space located by the garages 
and car parking area. 

 
2.4.  The gallery building will be three storeys.  Weavers Lane has a gentle slop upwards from south to 

north.  The highest point of the gallery will be on the lowest point of the site with the gallery becoming 
single storey at the highest point.  At no point will the gallery have a height greater to that of the 
town houses directly opposite the site. 

 

Page 63



 

 

2.5. The gallery has been designed in a very contemporary style so that it is a good foil to the original 
Grade I house. Although the design is contemporary the use of materials will reflect those used in 
Sudbury such as Bulmer brick and flint work.  The roofline is an interesting feature of the building 
and breaks up the expanse of roof by the introduction of ridges, similar to the industrial Vanner’s 
building to the north.  It is proposed to use a metal standing seamed roof covering. 

 
2.6.  The total site area is 1410 square metres. 
 
3. National Planning Policy Framework 
 
3.1.   The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) contains the Government's planning policies for 

England and sets out how these are expected to be applied.  Planning law continues to require that 
applications for planning permission are determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The policies contained within the NPPF are a 
material consideration and should be taken into account for decision-making purposes. 

 
4. The Principle of Development 
 
4.1.  The National Planning Policy Framework considers that there are three dimensions to sustainable 

development – economic, social and environmental.  The proposal addresses all of these issues 
as it will provide jobs, during construction but also the employment opportunities will be created.  
The proposal will increase the capability of the museum to hold events and special viewings in 
addition to borrowing art collections from around the world to be displayed within the purpose built 
gallery.  This will raise the profile of the museum, Sudbury and the Babergh district as a whole.  It 
is anticipated that the museum will benefit the town of Sudbury by the increase in spending at local 
shops, restaurants, cafes and public houses from tourists visiting the museum.  The proposed 
contemporary gallery building is considered to add interest to the streetscene and replaces a 
building that is in poor condition and unused.  This is all in-line with the NPPF. 

 
4.2. The Core Strategy encourages economic growth through tourism and this is consistent with the 

NPPF.  Gainsborough is a big tourist draw to the area and the further expansion of the museum will 
help support this important tourist attraction and increase footfall. 

 
4.3 The Local Plan policies specifically look at the design and impact aspects of the proposal.  The 

main issues to be addressed are the impact on the Heritage Assets, both the Listed Buildings but 
also the larger Conservation Area and also the impact on the neighbouring residential properties in 
Weavers Lane. 

 
5. Sustainability Assessment of Proposal 
 
5.1.  Economic role – the proposal is considered to give potential to economic growth through both the 

jobs provided at construction phase but then the creation of 8 full time and 16 part time employees.  
The proposal will also continue to protect the existing 6 full time and 11 part time employees.  The 
museum will also draw visitors to the town and it is anticipated that other establishments in the area 
will benefit from extra footfall as people explore the town and the association with the painter. 

 
5.2. Social role – it is understood that the museum has many volunteers and residents that are actively 

involved in the museum.  The proposed gallery will give more opportunity for local residents to 
become involved in the museum and the events that are held at the premises, including school 
visits.  The proposals also include improvements to the Grade I listed house for people with 
disabilities.  

 
  

Page 64



 

 

5.3. Environmental role – the proposed gallery will be very different to the existing because of its 
contemporary design.  However, it could be argued that because is so contemporary it does not 
compete with the Grade I and Grade II Listed buildings in the area.  The building picks up on local 
design feature such as the ridged roof which reflects the roof of the silk mill and the walls will use 
locally distinctive materials of local brick and flint, as seen widely in Sudbury. 

 
5.4. Eco features of the build are locally sourced materials, high levels of insulations, high thermal mass, 

natural daylight from north facing rooflights, LED lighting, natural ventilation to the landscape studio 
and optimised mechanical plant. 

 
6. Site Access, Parking and Highway Safety Considerations 
 
6.1.  The museum does not have any parking on site.  A small car parking area and three garages 

associated with the Labour Exchange building will be no longer available as the gallery building 
footprint is over this whole site.  A Transport Assessment was submitted with the application which 
addresses this issue.  SCC Highways have responded to the consultation and specified that three 
disabled parking bays and secure bicycle storage should be provided as a minimum for the scheme.  
The museum does not own any further land on which these could be provided.  The Transport 
Assessment confirms that there is disabled parking available on Gainsborough Street, close to the 
museum.  There are several car parks available in the town centre with a total of 1101 spaces 
available for parking.  It is anticipated that many visitors will use public transport with travel by train 
or bus.  Larger groups will be arriving by coach at a drop off point.   

 
6.2 The museum is in a town centre location and therefore use of public car parks and on-street parking, 

with provision for disabled parking is considered to be an acceptable solution, notwithstanding the 
comments of the LHA.  Officers do not therefore consider the application to be unacceptable in this 
regard. 

 
7.7. Design and Layout [Impact on Street Scene] 
 
7.1.  The most significant part of this proposal is the demolition of the existing Labour Exchange 

building and garaging.  This is a front facing building to Weavers Lane.  The proposed gallery will 
be a contemporary three storey building at the southern end and reducing to single storey at the 
northern end.  The roof structure is broken up with four ridges of differing height.  This breaks up 
a very large roof and adds interest that reflect the roof of the silk mill to the north of the site.  The 
ridges are carried down to the eastern wall on Weavers Lane.  The wall is a large expanse of 
brick and flint work.  The folds in the wall give an interesting dimension that will catch the light and 
soften the hard frontage.  The building will be cantilevered at first floor level over the footpath to 
gain a little extra floor space to the first and second floors.  Although the building is three storeys it 
does not appear to be overbearing because of the design features includes to the walls and roof.  
It is considered to reflect local distinctiveness in a contemporary manner but uses architectural 
language to express itself.  The town houses to the east are also modern and therefore the 
gallery is an acceptable addition to the streetscene.  As you move from Gainsborough Street into 
Weavers Lane you leave the historic core of Sudbury and move towards the modern and then to 
the industrial area of Vanners silk mill.  The Labour Exchange does not have any architectural 
merit and therefore the loss of the building within the Conservation Area is not considered to 
cause harm to the heritage asset. 

 
7.2. The internal space of the gallery will include the Gainsborough Gallery, Reception, lift, WC and 

temporary gallery (for displaying borrowed art collections).  At first floor level a community gallery 
(for displaying works by local artists) and office.  At second floor level the plant room, kitchen and 
landscape studio (this will enable visitors to see the landscape that Gainsborough painted). 

 

Page 65



 

 

7.3. The scheme includes a canopy that will give a covered walkway from the new gallery to the 
museum house within the courtyard garden along the rear elevations of the print workshop and 
weavers cottages. 

 
7.4. A small café is proposed to the rear of the existing shop.  This will be a lightweight glass structure 

of single storey giving views of the courtyard garden.  The shop will remain in the same location 
as existing and will form the exit point to visitors when they have finished their visit. 

 
7.5. The north west corner of the print workshop will be lost to enable access from the new gallery 

building to other areas of the museum.  Vanners have gifted a small corner of land to the south 
eastern corner of their site. 

 
7.6. The existing northern brick wall of the courtyard will be replaced by a traditional crinkle-crackle 

wall that is more interesting and in-keeping with the historic nature of the house and garden.  It 
also breaks up the rather dominant brick wall of the Vanners Mill building. 

 
7.7. The widening of an existing opening in the rear wall of the house will enable a level access to be 

installed so that disabled visitor can easily access the historic house.  Once inside the house 
there is an existing left which reaches the upper floors. 

 
7.8 In light of the above, officers consider that the scheme is acceptable in respect of its design and 

impacts upon the street scene and character/appearance of the area. 
 
8. Environmental Impacts - Trees, Ecology and Land Contamination 
 
8.1.  These matters have been considered by officers, however do not raise any issues of significance. 
 
9. Heritage Issues [Including The Impact On The Character And Appearance Of The Conservation 
Area And On The Setting Of Neighbouring Listed Buildings] 
 
9.1.  This application concerns the construction of a gallery in place of the former labour exchange on 

Weavers Lane, an unlisted building from the interwar period, which is arranged parallel to the road. 
There are also some changes proposed to the cottages on Weavers Lane and the adjacent print 
workshop, along with improved accessibility into the site and along the courtyard garden and repairs 
to parts of Gainsborough House itself.  

  
9.2. The issues of heritage concern relate to the impact of the demolition and reconstruction on the 

character and appearance of the Conservation Area, as well as on the setting of Gainsborough 
House, a Grade I listed property which backs onto the labour exchange.  

  
9.3. In order to construct the gallery, the labour exchange must be demolished. This is acceptable. The 

building is unsightly and does not contribute in a positive manner to the character or appearance of 
the area.  

  
9.4. The proposed gallery reflects the massing, form and materials palette discussed at pre-application 

stage. Its mass is undeniably large, but given its context, in proximity to buildings of a similar overall 
height and scale, and the meaning that it conveys as a national centre for exhibiting Gainsborough’s 
art, it is considered acceptable. 

 
9.5. The proposed changes to the cottages on Weavers Lane are acceptable, as are the changes to the 

accessibility of the site and garden.   
  
9.6. The repairs to Gainsborough House are acceptable and require no conditions.   
  

Page 66



 

 

9.7. The proposed crinkle crankle northern boundary wall is a part of the vernacular building tradition of 
the area and as such will amplify local distinctiveness.  

  
9.8 In summary, the work is as discussed and is considered to sustain and enhance the significance of 

the listed building, and the character and appearance of this part of the Conservation Area.   
  
9.9 In terms of the LBA, the scheme would preserve the building and its setting and ensure the 

character and appearance of this part of the Conservation Area is maintained and enhanced. As 
far as the NPPF is concerned, there would be no harm to the significance of the building or the CA 
– and it is for these reasons the Heritage Team does not object to the proposed development, 
subject to condition. 

 
9.10. Gainsborough’s House is a Grade I listed building and therefore Historic England are statutory 

consultees.  They were involved at pre-application stage and have raised no objection to the 
proposal.  Suffolk Preservation society have also raised no objection and see the benefits that this 
proposal raises in terms of protection of the heritage asset and also raising awareness of the 
Gainsborough and his home and landscapes. 

 
10. Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
10.1.  There is no doubt that the scheme will impact the neighbours directly opposite the Labour 

Exchange.  The existing gap which is used for parking car will be replaced with a three storey 
building.  The height of the proposed building does not exceed that of the town houses.  Three 
windows above ground floor level are proposed to the front elevation.  This is not considered to 
cause any further overlooking than existing from the Labour Exchange building.  A loss of light is 
not considered to be harmful from the building as the Vanners building is directly behind the 
proposed gallery and light is anticipated to remain the same as existing.  The outlook is not 
considered to be overbearing because of the design features incorporated into the building such as 
the folds and ridges which break up an otherwise large expanse of brickwork and roof. 

 
11. Biodiversity And Protected Species 
 
11.1.  A bat survey accompanied the application.  The findings of the survey confirmed that there were 

no bats on the site, but bats were recorded in the vicinity foraging.  Enhancements to the garden 
by the introduction of invertebrate attracting plants is recommended under condition.  

 
 

PART FOUR – CONCLUSION  
 

 
12. Statement Required by Article 35 Of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2015. 
 
12.1.  When determining planning applications, The Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 requires Local Planning Authorities to explain 
how, in dealing with the application they have worked with the applicant to resolve any problems 
or issues arising.  

 
12.2.  In this case at pre-application stage and after considerable public engagement the height of the 

gallery building has been reduced. 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 67



 

 

 
13. Planning Balance 
 
13.1. The application is consistent with the Development Plan in terms of design and impact on residential 

amenity and Heritage Assets and are also consistent with the sustainability values within the Core 
Strategy.   

 
13.2.  The application is considered to address all three dimensions of sustainable development, 

economic role, social role, environmental role, as set out in the NPPF.  Although the gallery building 
is a large contemporary building within a Conservation Area, it adds interest in the street scene and 
does not compete or pretend to be a historic building.  It is bold but uses locally distinctive materials 
and also design features.   

 
13.3. This addition to the museum is a nationally important scheme where the biggest collection of one 

Britain’s most celebrated painters can be displayed and where other internal art collections can be 
displayed in a secure building.  The scheme is the receiver of large grant from the Heritage Lottery 
totalling in millions of pounds with the total spend estimated at £8.5 million. 

 
13.4. The museum will encourage visitors to Sudbury and the surrounding area, adding further economic 

benefits to the town. 
 
RECOMMENDATION A 
 
Grant planning permission subject to the following conditions: 
 

• Standard Time Limit 

• Approved Plans and Documents 

• Agreement of Materials 

• Construction Management Plan 

• Standard Archaeological Conditions 

• Sample of brick and flint panel 

• Detailed window drawings 

• Details of eaves and verges 

• Details of rooflights 

• Details of rainwater goods 

• Elevations and roof plan illustrating the proposed location of all HVAC units and ductwork 

• Ecology Enhancements 
 
RECOMMENDATION B 
 
Grant Listed Building Consent subject to the following conditions: 
 
• Standard Time Limit 
• Approved Plans and Documents 
• Agreement of Materials 
• Sample of brick and flint panel 
• Detailed window drawings 
• Details of eaves and verges 
• Details of rooflights 
• Details of rainwater goods 
• Elevations and roof plan illustrating the proposed location of all HVAC units and ductwork 
 

Page 68



Application No: DC/17/00717 and DC/18/00718 

Parish: Sudbury 

Location: Gainsborough House, 46 Gainsborough Street 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 PL/17/36 PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE
	5a DC/17/06058 Former Sugar Beet Factory, Sproughton Road, Sproughton
	Site plan

	5b DC/17/06235 Former Sugar Beet Factory, Sproughton Road, Sproughton
	Site plan

	5c DC/18/00717 & DC/18/00718 Gainsborough House, 46 Gainsborough Street, Sudbury
	Site plan


